# Measuring biodiversity to explain community assembly: a unified approach

S. Pavoine<sup>1,2\*</sup> and M. B. Bonsall<sup>1,3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Mathematical Ecology Research Group, Department of Zoology, University of Oxford, South Parks Road, Oxford, OX1 3PS, UK

<sup>2</sup> Muséum National d'Histoire Naturelle, Département Ecologie et Gestion de la Biodiversité, UMR 7204 MNHN-CNRS-UPMC, 61 rue Buffon, 75005 Paris, France

<sup>3</sup> St. Peter's College, New Inn Hall Street, Oxford, OX1 2DL, UK

(Received 2 June 2010; revised 23 November 2010; accepted 24 November 2010)

#### ABSTRACT

One of the oldest challenges in ecology is to understand the processes that underpin the composition of communities. Historically, an obvious way in which to describe community compositions has been diversity in terms of the number and abundances of species. However, the failure to reject contradictory models has led to communities now being characterized by trait and phylogenetic diversities. Our objective here is to demonstrate how species, trait and phylogenetic diversity can be combined together from large to local spatial scales to reveal the historical, deterministic and stochastic processes that impact the compositions of local communities. Research in this area has recently been advanced by the development of mathematical measures that incorporate trait dissimilarities and phylogenetic relatedness between species. However, measures of trait diversity have been developed independently of phylogenetic measures and conversely most of the phylogenetic diversity measures have been developed independently of trait diversity measures. This has led to semantic confusions particularly when classical ecological and evolutionary approaches are integrated so closely together. Consequently, we propose a unified semantic framework and demonstrate the importance of the links among species, phylogenetic and trait diversity indices. Furthermore, species, trait and phylogenetic diversity indices differ in the ways they can be used across different spatial scales. The connections between large-scale, regional and local processes allow the consideration of historical factors in addition to local ecological deterministic or stochastic processes. Phylogenetic and trait diversity have been used in large-scale analyses to determine how historical and/or environmental factors affect both the formation of species assemblages and patterns in species richness across latitude or elevation gradients. Both phylogenetic and trait diversity have been used at different spatial scales to identify the relative impacts of ecological deterministic processes such as environmental filtering and limiting similarity from alternative processes such as random speciation and extinction, random dispersal and ecological drift. Measures of phylogenetic diversity combine phenotypic and genetic diversity and have the potential to reveal both the ecological and historical factors that impact local communities. Consequently, we demonstrate that, when used in a comparative way, species, trait and phylogenetic structures have the potential to reveal essential details that might act simultaneously in the assembly of species communities. We highlight potential directions for future research. These might include how variation in trait and phylogenetic diversity alters with spatial distances, the role of trait and phylogenetic diversity in global-scale gradients, the connections between traits and phylogeny, the importance of trait rarity and independent evolutionary history in community assembly, the loss of trait and phylogenetic diversity due to human impacts, and the mathematical developments of biodiversity indices including within-species variations.

*Key words*: Functional diversity, environmental filtering, limiting similarity, metacommunity, neutral models, niche-based models, phylogenetic diversity, spatial scales, species richness, trait diversity.

#### CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	 2
II.	Semantic confusions	 3

\* Address for correspondence at address 2 (E-mail: pavoine@mnhn.fr).

1

	(1) The consequences of the myriad of biodiversity indices	3
	(2) An example: confusion with "trait evenness"	2
	(3) Semantic framework	3
Ш	(b) beinder handwork	5
111.	(1) Connections between trait and phylogenetic measures a generalization	5
	(1) Connections between that and phylogenetic incastics - a generatization	0
	(2) That and phylogenetic diversities find then roundation in species diversity	0
TX 7	(3) Towards a spatio-temporal decomposition of blockversity	0
1V.	Exploring a multi-dimensional approach to biodiversity	9
	(1) Species richness <i>versus</i> trait and phylogenetic diversity	10
	(2) Traits might explain phylogenetic diversity.	10
	(3) and phylogeny might explain trait diversity	10
	(4) Different patterns revealed by different aspects of biodiversity	10
V.	Empirical results: linking biodiversity with history and biogeography	12
	(1) Linking species richness with phylogenetic diversity to reveal assembly formation processes	12
	(2) Phylogenetic diversity disentangles large-scale gradients in species richness	13
	(3) What about trait diversity?	14
VI.	Diversity at the local scale: empirical patterns	15
	(1) Phylogenies or traits	15
	(2) Using both phylogenies and traits to disentangle local processes	15
VII.	Directions for future research	17
	(1) Do trait diversity and phylogenetic diversity increase with spatial distances?	18
	(2) Could phylogenetic and trait diversity explain global-scale gradients?	18
	(3) Is it possible to integrate the complementary strengths associated with phylogeny and traits?	18
	(a) Could phylogenetic and trait distinctiveness complement studies on biodynetic.	19
	(1) Court phylogenetic and trait diversity is and provide studies of blockversky.	10
	(a) What notionals underline a dimensity is endangered:	10
37111	(b) what rationale underlies a diversity index:	10
		10
IX.	Acknowledgements	19
X.	Keterences	19
XI.	Supporting Information	21

### I. INTRODUCTION

One of the oldest challenges in ecology is to elucidate the processes that underpin the composition patterns of multispecies communities. Studies of community assembly have often focused on patterns in biodiversity. However, biodiversity is often equated with species richness and/or evenness, while other components associated with diversity have been less well explored.

One of the main objectives of diversity analysis in ecology has been to explain these patterns in species richness and evenness. At broad scales, patterns in species richness are determined across geographic gradients such as those associated with changes in latitude and/or elevation. For plants and animals, species richness often increases near the equator and decreases with elevation or peaks at intermediate elevation. The potential mechanisms identified are numerous and no consensus has so far been reached (e.g. time from colonization, rates of diversification and extinction, zonation of habitats, dispersal limitation; Harrison & Cornell, 2007). At intermediate scales, immigration and regional extinction processes are likely to interact with the processes of speciation and species biotic and abiotic interactions (Harrison & Cornell, 2007).

A range of alternative models and approaches have been proposed to understand these patterns and processes of

community assembly (Magurran, 2004; Chase et al., 2005). Rank-abundance plots, where species are ranked from the most abundant to the least abundant, have been widely used and the original models of species abundance were built from statistical rules on niche partitioning. These approaches are now considered too simplistic (Magurran, 2004) and more recently, species-sorting models have been developed to explore how niche-based processes such as habitat quality and dispersal can affect the composition of local communities. However, patterns in species richness and evenness can often be predicted by more than one model framework (Chase et al., 2005). The failure to reject contradictory models together with access to more detailed species traits and phylogenies, and the development of numerous mathematical diversity measures has led to novel approaches in characterizing the ways in which communities are assembled.

Biodiversity is a complex multifaceted concept that includes scales in space and time, and entities such as species, traits and evolutionary units. Recent research on community assembly has shifted the emphasis away from simple measures of species diversity to trait- and phylogenetic-based determinants of diversity (Webb *et al.*, 2002; Silvertown *et al.*, 2006; Hardy & Senterre, 2007; Cavender-Bares *et al.*, 2009; Pavoine, Baguette & Bonsall, 2010). However, species, trait and phylogenetic diversity patterns are often found to differ. Previous attempts to replace one measure of diversity with another (e.g. trait diversity with phylogenetic diversity, phylogenetic diversity with taxonomic diversity, trait and phylogenetic diversity with species diversity) have led to strong criticisms (Chave, Chust & Thébaud, 2007; Losos, 2008).

We first compare the vocabulary and methods used to analyse functional versus phylogenetic diversity. Then, we review the studies that have compared species, trait and phylogenetic diversity to understand the determinants of community structure and diversity. Although we draw from a wide range of methodological, observational and experimental studies on plants and animals in both aquatic and terrestrial systems, we limit our discussion to diversity within a trophic level. We will not review all mathematical models of community assembly as this has been extensively developed elsewhere (Holyoak, Leibold & Holt, 2005). Our first step is to provide an integrative review of the recent developments in trait and phylogeny measures of diversity and their applications in identifying community assembly rules. The consideration of traits and phylogenies in community assembly studies has required the establishment of new semantics, indices and tools to measure and analyse trait and phylogenetic diversity. Accordingly, we first highlight discrepancies in the vocabulary and semantics used in evolutionary versus ecological studies. Next, we identify methodological similarities and differences in approaches to measuring species, trait and phylogenetic diversity. We advocate that general ecological theories of community assembly will only emerge by combining species, trait, and phylogenetic diversity across spatial scales, and this combination provides an exciting range of new prospective research areas. We then consider empirical results that demonstrate how species, trait and phylogenetic diversity patterns can be used concomitantly to reveal large-scale historical, biogeographic and local-scale ecological processes underpinning community structures.

#### **II. SEMANTIC CONFUSIONS**

There is a long history of developments in biodiversity measures. This history has been punctuated by philosophical debate about the basis for measures of diversity. For instance, Hurlbert (1971) claimed that, given the semantic, technical and conceptual problems in the literature on species diversity, the concept of species diversity has become meaningless and the term should be abandoned. However, this term persisted due to numerous attempts to find a unified framework for distinct indices of species diversity (Hill, 1973), to compare the indices (Mouillot & Leprêtre, 1999), to identify basic properties that diversity indices should satisfy (Routledge, 1979) and to distinguish richness (number of species) and evenness (species abundance) components of diversity (DeJong, 1975). More recently, the adoption of a multivariate approach to species diversity has quantified and synthesized different characteristics of community structure (Ricotta, 2005; Liu et al., 2007). In this Section, we highlight

that new developments that include trait and phylogenetic diversity also raise questions of definition, vocabulary, and the relevance of the measures developed.

### (1) The consequences of the myriad of biodiversity indices

Many observational and experimental studies have explored phylogenetic and trait diversity patterns in spatially extended communities to understand assembly rules. The difficulty when gathering the results of these studies into a single framework is that phylogenetic and trait diversity have been measured using a wide variety of metrics. The vocabulary used to classify indices is continuously evolving and differs between evolutionary and ecological studies, leading to potential confusion when a term is employed without a clear definition or reference.

#### (2) An example: confusion with "trait evenness"

An example of semantic confusion concerns the definition of "trait evenness" (or "functional evenness"). Trait diversity indices have recently focused on three aspects: trait richness, trait "evenness" and trait divergence (Mason *et al.*, 2005). Although trait richness has a clear definition (the amount of niche space filled by species in the community; Mason *et al.*, 2005), trait divergence and trait evenness still lack appropriate definitions.

Under one definition, trait evenness applies to evenness in the abundance of traits, just as species evenness applies to the evenness of the abundances of species (Mason *et al.*, 2005). More recently, trait evenness has been redefined to include regularity in the distribution of abundance together with the regularity of the traits themselves in niche space (Mouillot *et al.*, 2005*b*). Mason *et al.* (2008*a*) underlined this ambiguity by arguing that trait evenness denotes the regularity of the species within niche space *or* evenness of abundance within niche space.

Another source of confusion is that "phylogenetic evenness" has recently been introduced into community studies where species within local communities are less related than expected by chance. This definition was previously referred to as "phylogenetic overdispersion" and, although the use of phylogenetic overdispersion appears more frequently in the literature, it was suggested that this phrase should be abandoned and replaced with "phylogenetic evenness" (Kraft *et al.*, 2007). Similarly, in this context (and in contrast to Mason *et al.*, 2005), "trait evenness" or "trait overdispersion" defines a situation where species within local communities have less similar traits than expected by chance, for instance due to competition (Cavender-Bares, Keen & Miles, 2006).

#### (3) Semantic framework

Here, we outline an approach that unifies the different definitions for the aspects of biodiversity. This builds on Ricotta's (2007) useful attempt to classify indices of diversity into semantic classes and Mouillot *et al.*'s (2005*b*) distinction between richness, regularity and divergence in functional diversity. In addition, we distinguish the classical richness (i.e. number of species, number of genera etc.), from new multivariate indices. This leads us to six classes. The first three classes are classical (Magurran, 2004):

- Richness. This designates the amount of diversity units (e.g. taxa, functional groups, trait states, niche space coordinates, and evolutionary history units).
- (2) Evenness. This defines the equitability of abundance distribution between diversity units.
- (3) Abundance-weighted diversity indices. These should include all indices (e.g. Shannon, 1948) that combine both richness and evenness.

These first three classes were traditionally used to characterize distinct aspects of species diversity. However they have also been used to measure functional diversity and higher taxa diversity. Regrouping species into functional groups and applying these indices to those functional groups has led to functional diversity estimates (e.g. Stevens *et al.*, 2003). Regrouping species into higher taxa classification has led to taxonomic diversity estimates that have been used to predict species diversity (Williams & Gaston, 1994) but might incorporate phylogenetic components if the diversity in several taxonomic levels is considered (Shimatani, 2001). More recently, these simple measures of functional and phylogenetic indices have been replaced by more complex, multivariate indices as using traditional indices leads to a loss of information. For instance, in classifying functional groups, differences among species are omitted and any differences between functional groups are always considered to be evenly distributed. Higher taxa diversity is a poor estimate of phylogenetic diversity as it is based on systematic trees without considering temporal evolutionary processes. The next three classes contain synthetic measures based on multivariate distances, sets of points or trees:

- (4) Multivariate richness. This designates measures related to the volume of niche spaces and the length of phylogenetic trees (sum of branch lengths).
- (5) Regularity (Fig. 1). This designates how evenly spread species are in niche space, across a phylogenetic tree or within a functional tree. Here, niche space and phylogenetic or functional trees are defined from the limited set of species considered (e.g. species within a local community) (Weiher, Clarke & Keddy, 1998; Stevens *et al.*, 2003; Mason *et al.*, 2005, 2008*a*; Mouillot *et al.*, 2005*b*; Ricotta & Moretti, 2008). Accordingly, they do not refer to a larger set of species. Regularity of trees implies that the tree is balanced (i.e. rather symmetric) (Clarke & Warwick, 2001; Webb & Pitman, 2002; Heard & Cox, 2007; Helmus *et al.*, 2007*a*). In





Fig. 1. The concepts of "regularity" versus "skewness". For this illustration, we consider theoretical trees with species as tips and theoretical species abundance distributions. The trees could have been obtained with phylogenetic or functional data. We applied the indices of regularity or skewness given in Table 1 to these data (results are given in Appendix S1 and summarized here). For the indices based on distances among species (or minimum spanning trees constructed from the distances among species), we used the sum of branch lengths in the smallest path that connects two species as an evaluation of the distance between them. When species abundances are not taken into account then the regularity depends on the balance of the tree or on the evenness of the distances among species depending on the index used. Arrows indicate the direction according which each index (regularity versus skewness) increases. Most indices agree that the regularity increases from strongly unbalanced trees (case D), comb-like trees (case C), symmetric trees (case B), to equidistant species (case A). The regularity is not impacted by the size (i.e. global height) of the tree. On the contrary, some indices are sensitive to branch length and/or to the number of species (Table 1). The regularity might be changed if the species are weighted by their abundance. Any uneven abundance distribution decreases regularity if the species are equidistant (case A). In that case, the regularity only depends on the evenness of species abundances. The same is true for case B with symmetric trees, except that the regularity will be more reduced if both species within and among clades have distinct abundances (instead of among clades only). When the tree is unbalanced (cases C and D), the regularity might be increased, in comparison with species having equal abundances, if the most distinctive species (most distant from all other species) have the highest abundances. Inversely, the regularity is decreased when the most distinctive species have the lowest abundances.

Biological Reviews (2010) 000-000 © 2010 The Authors. Biological Reviews © 2010 Cambridge Philosophical Society

contrast to regularity, skewness defines the irregularity in the spread of species in niche space, across a phylogenetic or within a functional tree (Heard & Cox, 2007). Regularity might be weighted by species abundances (see Fig. 1).

(6) Divergence. This designates a dissimilarity measure that is computed from inter-species distances unweighted (unweighted divergence), or weighted by relative abundances (abundance-weighted divergence) (Ricotta, 2007). These distances could be calculated on trait states (Pavoine *et al.*, 2009b) or on the phylogeny (as sum of the branch lengths or nodes in the smallest path that connect two species on the phylogenetic tree, e.g. Pavoine et al., 2008). Among the unweighted divergence indices, Ricotta (2007) distinguished indices normalized by a component of richness. We do not make this distinction here as the level of correlation with species richness is still unknown for most newly developed indices. In addition, we restrict this category of "divergence" to those indices that are related to a multivariate measure of variance.

All these definitions focus on diversity within a community without reference to a larger set of species. On this latter point, two alternatives have been proposed (Webb et al., 2002) to designate higher levels of phylogenetic diversity within a community than that expected by chance from a larger species pool. These are "phylogenetic overdispersion" and "phylogenetic repulsion". Kraft et al. (2007) highlighted that the term "overdispersion" has been used to imply uniform dispersion but may also mean aggregation, which is in contrast to high local diversity. These authors suggested that "phylogenetic overdispersion" should be abandoned and replaced with "phylogenetic evenness". However, as highlighted above "evenness" is historically used in biodiversity studies to designate uniform abundances, and "repulsion" has the drawback of implying a process where we measure a pattern. Accordingly, we suggest (and use here) that "phylogenetic overdispersion" (and its homologue "trait overdispersion") designates high local phylogenetic (trait) diversity. Conversely, phylogenetic (trait) clustering defines a situation where the phylogenetic (trait) diversity within local communities is lower than that expected from the larger species pool (Webb et al., 2002; Cavender-Bares et al., 2006; Kraft et al., 2007).

#### III. TOWARDS UNIFIED MEASURES OF SPECIES, TRAIT AND PHYLOGENETIC DIVERSITIES

One of the preliminary steps in biodiversity analysis is to determine how diversity should be measured. Research on different measures of species diversity indices has been extensive. Trait and phylogenetic diversity measures have emerged from the idea that the degree of differences among species can be included in biodiversity indices as species are inherently different (Cousins, 1991). Previous reviews of diversity indices have focussed on species (e.g. Magurran, 2004), traits (e.g. Petchey, O'Gorman & Flynn, 2009) or phylogeny (e.g. Cavender-Bares *et al.*, 2009; Vamosi *et al.*, 2009) but very few have ever dealt with these three aspects of diversity simultaneously (but see Magurran, 2004, for species, trait and taxonomic diversity) and none of them has attempted to compare the wide variety of recent developments for these three aspects of biodiversity.

### (1) Connections between trait and phylogenetic measures - a generalization

Approaches to trait and phylogenetic diversity still lack an integrated framework. The choice for a diversity index will depend on mathematical properties that confer distinct biological interest. For instance, diversity indices might have distinct connections with species richness (Solow & Polasky, 1994; Petchey & Gaston, 2002; Schmera, Eros & Podani, 2009), power to detect ecological processes (Kraft et al., 2007), and/or behaviour at their maximum (Pavoine & Bonsall, 2009). Accordingly, the use of distinct indices to assess species, trait and phylogenetic diversity measures could confound effects due to biologically inherent differences among species, a set of traits and a phylogeny. Table 1 provides an overview of the multivariate mathematical indices used to measure trait and phylogenetic diversity. While very few indices have been developed through knowledge transfer between the trait and phylogenetic literature, some examples do exist. For instance, Faith's index of phylogenetic diversity (named PD) (Faith, 1992) has been adopted as a measure of functional diversity (with an index named FD) (Petchey & Gaston, 2002).

This lack of interactions between areas of complementary research has led to repeated independent developments in the biodiversity literature. For instance, measures using quadratic entropy were developed independently in functional ecology (Hendrickson & Ehrlich, 1971; Ganeshaiah, Chandrashekara & Kumar, 1997), genetics (Nei & Li, 1979), taxonomy (Warwick & Clarke, 1995) and most recently in economics (Stirling, 2007). Other practical indices have been introduced independently in trait diversity and then phylogenetic diversity. This is the case for instance for the average distance and average nearest neighbour approach (Table 1). The lack of integrated development of functional and phylogenetic indices of diversity is striking as functional and phylogenetic data have similar structure. For instance, any index based on species distances could be applied to both functional and phylogenetic distances. Any index based on a phylogenetic tree could also be applied to a functional tree and so on. Accordingly, some indices developed in trait literature can be usefully adapted to characterize phylogenetic diversity. For instance, the MFAD index (Table 1) developed in a functional context as the sum of pairwise trait distances among species divided by the number of species (Schmera et al., 2009), could be adapted for use with phylogenetic distances among species. An interesting feature of this index is that it is less correlated with species richness than indices of trait or phylogenetic richness although it retains the core assumption that its value Table 1. Indices developed and/or used for measuring functional trait diversity or phylogenetic diversity. We indicate (with crosses) whether each index is based on trees (T) such as phylogenetic trees and functional dendrograms, minimum spanning trees (M), points in a Euclidean space (S) (e.g. niche space), or distances among species (D). The latter category (i.e. the indices that consider directly the distances among species) could be computed from any type of distance, even those distances obtained from trees and points in Euclidean space. The other categories are more exclusive. For instance, indices based on trees work on the tree structure and branch length. We also indicated whether the index is known to be strongly influenced by species richness (column Ri) and whether it depends on the scale of the distance (or tree height) (column Sc) and/or on the absolute abundances of the species (instead of relative abundances) (column Ab). While the list might not be exhaustive, it highlights the level of redundancy and, more importantly, the low level of interactions between the literature on functional and phylogenetic studies

Measure	$\operatorname{Code}^1$	Functional	Phylogenetic	Т	М	S	D	Ri	Sc	Ab
Richness Convex hull	ConvH	Cornwell et al. (2006)				×			×	
Exponent of the relation between edge rank and corresponding cumulative edge length in a minimum spanning tree	α	Ricotta & Moretti (2008)			X				×	
Sum of branch lengths in a tree	FDPD	Petchey & Gaston (2002)	Faith (1992)	×				×	×	
Skewness/Regularity <sup>(2)</sup> Unweighted skewness		. ,								
Variance in the nearest species distance	$s_{NND}^2$	Weiher <i>et al.</i> (1998)					×		×	
Variance in the distances	$\Lambda^+$		Clarke & Warwick (2001)				×		×	
Standardized sum of differences in species richness between the two subclades defined by each internal node in a tree	Ic		Heard & Cox (2007)	×						
Diversity in evolutionary	HED		Cadotte et al. (2010)	х				×		
Evenness in evolutionary distinctiveness among species <i>Weighted skewness</i>	EED		Cadotte et al. (2010)	×						
Relative deviation from null expectation of phylogenetically balanced abundances	IAC		Cadotte et al. (2010)	×						×
Weighted regularity										
Evenness in the branch lengths of a minimum spanning tree	FEve	Villéger et al. (2008)			×					
Evenness in species uniqueness	PAE		Cadotte <i>et al.</i> (2010)	×						
Diversity in species distinctiveness	HAED		Cadotte <i>et al.</i> (2010)	×				×		
Evenness in species distinctiveness	EAED		Cadotte <i>et al.</i> (2010)	×						×
Divergence										
Unweighted divergence										
Sum of distances among species Sum of distances among species divided by the number of species	FAD MFAD	Walker <i>et al.</i> (1999) Schmera <i>et al.</i> (2009)					× ×	×	× ×	
Mean distance among species	meanD	Weiher et al. (1998)	Webb (2000); Clarke & Warwick (2001)				×		×	
Mean distance to the nearest	meanNND	Weiher <i>et al.</i> (1998)	Webb (2000)				×		×	
Variability in the distance between the interior nodes and the root in a tree	PSV		Helmus et al. (2007a)	×					Х	
Index PSV multiplied by the number of species	PSR		Helmus et al. (2007a)	×				Х	×	

Biological Reviews (2010) 000-000 © 2010 The Authors. Biological Reviews © 2010 Cambridge Philosophical Society

Table 1.	(Cont.)
----------	---------

Measure	$\operatorname{Code}^1$	Functional	Phylogenetic	Т	М	S	D	Ri	Sc	Ab
Weighted divergence										
Averaged distance among species and their barycentre	FDis	Laliberté & Legendre (2010)				×			×	
Standardized averaged distance among species and their barycentre	FDiv	Villéger et al. (2008)				Х				
Variability in the distance between the interior nodes and the root in a tree weighted by species abundance	PSE		Helmus et al. (2007a)	×					×	
Sum of entropic abundance-weighted diversity over the interior nodes of a tree	Нр		Allen <i>et al.</i> (2009)	×					×	
Mean distance among species weighted by species abundance	QE	Pavoine <i>et al.</i> (2004); Botta-Dukát (2005)	Pavoine <i>et al.</i> (2005); Hardy & Senterre (2007)				×		×	
Sum of abundance-weighted diversity over the depth of a tree	Ia	Pavoine <i>et al.</i> (2009a) <sup>3</sup>	Pavoine et al. (2009a)	Х					×	
Average conflict among species	Qα	Ricotta & Szeidl (2006)	Ricotta & Szeidl (2006)				×		×	

<sup>1</sup>We have tried to keep the names given by the developers. If the developers did not give a short name or if several developers gave distinct names, we attributed a code in italic.

<sup>2</sup>As highlighted in the main text skewness is used in contrast to regularity. Skewness indices increase with skewness (and thus decrease with regularity); whereas regularity indices increase with regularity (and thus decrease with skewness).

<sup>3</sup>Developed with phylogenetic trees but suggested for use with functional trees.

increases with the addition of a new species. By contrast, several indices developed in the phylogenetic literature can be adapted to characterize trait diversity. For instance, two indices have been developed to measure phylogenetic diversity from the Shannon index (Allen, Kon & Bar-Yam, 2009; Pavoine, Love & Bonsall, 2009a). They could be easily applied to a functional dendrogram tree to measure trait diversity. Likewise, Webb (2000) standardized the average phylogenetic distance among species and the average phylogenetic nearest species by their maximum expected value for a given number of taxa and a given phylogeny. These metrics could be very usefully applied to trait distances among species to associate trait diversity patterns with potential ecological processes (e.g. environmental filtering, limiting similarity). More generally, even if each index was developed either on phylogenies or on traits, we propose that any measure presented in Table 1 could be adapted to integrate both trait and phylogenetic diversity simply because the data structures are so similar.

Developing a new index of biodiversity is reasonably straightforward as there are many possible ways of characterizing biodiversity. Consider, for example, the many different metrics that have been developed for characterizing differences among species based on distance (e.g. Legendre & Legendre, 1998). If *d* is a function of distance among species, then  $d^{\alpha}$  is also a function of distance among species with  $\alpha$ in  $[0, \infty[$ . Once the distances have been chosen, they can be integrated with several diversity indices which might be

connected. Appendix S1 outlines such links among different indices. For instance, we demonstrate that an index based on quadratic entropy (QE) can be written as  $\sum_{i=1}^{S} p_i ||M_iG||^2$ (Pavoine, Dufour & Chessel, 2004) while an index for functional diversity can be expressed as  $\sum_{i=1}^{S} p_i ||M_iG||^2$ (Laliberté & Legendre, 2010), where S is the number of species,  $p_i$  the relative abundance of species i,  $M_i$  are points that represent species in a multivariate space with a vector of coordinates  $\mathbf{m}_i$ , and G is the average point (representing an average theoretical species) with coordinates  $\sum_{i=1}^{S} p_i \mathbf{m}_i$ . From this, we can deduce that a more general index would be  $\sum_{i=1}^{S} p_i \|M_i G\|^{\alpha}$ , with  $\alpha$  in  $]0, \infty[$ . In addition, several modifications could be applied to existing indices as there are alternative ways to measure other aspects of diversity such as skewness and regularity. Furthermore additional modifications might be to replace measures based on means with medians (which, as is well-known, are less sensitive to extreme values, see Appendix S1). Given that the possibilities of developments are infinite, we advocate the following points:

(1) Focusing on unified frameworks for species, trait and phylogenetic diversity. New developments should focus on measures that can be adapted to aspects of both functional and phylogenetic diversity. New indices should also extend traditional species diversity indices, to ensure that the differences between species, functional and phylogenetic diversity patterns are not mathematical artefacts (due to differences between formulae). Such general frameworks of biodiversity do exist. For instance, if species are equidistant, the quadratic entropy that might measure functional and phylogenetic diversity is equal to the traditional Simpson index of species diversity (Pavoine *et al.*, 2004). With particular phylogenies, Faith's (1992) index of phylogenetic diversity (extended to measure functional diversity by Petchey & Gaston, 2002) is related to species richness, and Helmus *et al.*'s (2007*a*) PSE index is related to the McIntosh index of species evenness. Other indices of phylogenetic and functional diversity encompass species richness, and the Shannon and Simpson indices of species abundance-weighted diversity (Ricotta & Szeidl, 2006; Pavoine *et al.*, 2009*a*).

- (2) Basing each index on appropriate assumptions. Each index must be based on biological [e.g. expected amount of trait states (Faith, 1992); variability in neutral traits (Helmus et al., 2007a)] or biologically relevant statistical arguments (e.g. expected difference between two species in a community; Pavoine et al., 2004). The mathematical properties of each new index must be studied (Pavoine & Bonsall, 2009), so that the connections with previous indices are appropriately established (Appendix S1), and the behaviour and meaning of the index are clearly identified (e.g. minimum, maximum values, dependence on species richness).
- (3) Attributing various weights to species abundances. Another important point that has been raised in the development of functional and phylogenetic indices of diversity is the relative importance of species abundances versus differences among species. In this vein, new indices could incorporate additional information that weights the relative importance of species abundances when measuring functional and phylogenetic diversity (see for instance Ricotta & Szeidl, 2006; Pavoine et al., 2009a).

In the next two subsections we consider these aspects of trait and phylogenetic measures in the traditional taxonomic context and highlight their dependence on scales.

#### (2) Trait and phylogenetic diversities find their foundation in species diversity

Historically, biodiversity studies have focused on speciesoriented measures, where the diversity of a community depends on the number of species and their relative abundances. Not surprisingly, many measures of trait and phylogenetic diversity now rely on these previous developments. For instance, Faith's (1992) phylogenetic diversity was developed to estimate the number of distinct trait states found in a community, translating the question of measuring biodiversity from species to that of counts of trait types. Two of the most commonly used indices for species diversity are the Simpson and the Shannon indices. The quadratic entropy index is a generalization of the Simpson index to include distinct (trait or phylogenetic) distances among species, whereas the former version of the Simpson index assumed that species were equidistant. Several novel indices of phylogenetic diversity now rely on the Shannon index of species diversity (Allen *et al.*, 2009; Pavoine *et al.*, 2009*a*).

Furthermore, regardless of how an index for trait or phylogenetic diversity has been developed, one of the principal properties of a biodiversity measure that is first analyzed is the shape of the relationship between the new index and species richness. Additionally, a core question is does the index always increase when a new species is added to a community? This property which is rooted in the use of species richness as a measure of ecological diversity is considered by many as an absolute requirement for an appropriate index of diversity (e.g. Izsak & Papp, 2000; Ricotta, 2006; Petchey & Gaston, 2007). All these links between novel measures of trait and phylogenetic diversity and traditional species diversity demonstrate the critical, central role that species richness, evenness and abundance still have in studies of biodiversity.

# (3) Towards a spatio-temporal decomposition of biodiversity

It is now well appreciated that species, trait, and phylogenetic diversity need to be integrated across spatial scales. Along this vein, a number of methodological advances have been made such that species, trait or phylogenetic diversity within a region or a metacommunity (set of local communities linked by dispersal,  $\gamma$ ) is divided into a local ( $\alpha$ ) diversity and a component associated with the differences between local communities ( $\beta$  diversity) (Veech *et al.*, 2002; Pavoine & Dolédec, 2005; Bryant et al., 2008; Graham & Fine, 2008; Ricotta & Burrascano, 2008). Regional and local diversities are obviously interconnected. Regional processes drive local community assembly (Ricklefs, 1987) and the size of the regional species pool affects the composition of the local communities. By contrast, any process that leads to the local extinction of a species, to character displacement, or speciation may also influence the composition of the regional species pool.

What is less known is that the additive decomposition of biodiversity measures (where  $\gamma = \alpha + \beta$ ) can be reconciled with a unified framework for species, trait and phylogenetic diversity (Fig. 2; Pavoine, 2005). Graphical analyses of species, trait and phylogenetic diversity within and between assemblages (Pavoine *et al.*, 2004), linked with statistical approaches (Pavoine & Dolédec, 2005; Hardy & Senterre, 2007; Pélissier & Couteron, 2007) can be developed to understand the mechanisms that underlie biodiversity patterns.

The decompositions of biodiversity indices traditionally have been explored across the spatial scales ( $\gamma$ ,  $\beta$  and  $\alpha$  levels) (Whittaker, 1960). However, the mathematical frameworks on which these indices are based also allow other types of decompositions including temporal analyses. Accordingly the numerous approaches that have been developed in the



**Fig. 2.** Connections between additive decompositions of diversity indices. <sup>a</sup> (Rao, 1986); <sup>b</sup> the analysis of diversity (ANODIV) allows the decomposition of diversity indices according to crossed and hierarchical factors (Rao, 1986); <sup>c</sup> the analysis of the quadratic entropy (ANOQE) denotes the decomposition of the quadratic entropy index (see Table 1) according to any set of crossed and/or hierarchical factors (Rao, 1986; Pavoine & Dolédec, 2005); <sup>d</sup> the analysis of variance (ANOVA) corresponds to the decomposition of the variance of a quantitative variable across any set of crossed and/or hierarchical factors (Fisher, 1925); <sup>e</sup> the decomposition of Havrda & Charvát index  $(1 - \sum_i p_i^a)/(1 - a)$ , where  $p_i$  is the relative abundance of species *i* and *a* denotes a parameter that must be chosen ( $a \ge 0$ ), is possible on any levels of hierarchical factors, and on crossed factors depending on the values of *a* (Rao, 1986); the decomposition of Havrda & Charvát index has three special cases: <sup>f</sup> the Simpson index with a = 2 is decomposable over any number of hierarchical and crossed factors (Light & Margolin, 1971; Anderson & Landis, 1980; Rao, 1986; Lande, 1996); <sup>g</sup> the Shannon index with *a* tends to 1 is decomposable over any number of hierarchical but only two crossed factors (Lewontin, 1972; Rao, 1986; Lande, 1996).

literature to analyse diversity on hierarchical spatial scales (e.g. local communities, regions, continents) could be applied to analyse diversity across a hierarchy of temporal scales (e.g. years, decades, and centuries). New research should focus on these temporal aspects and, more importantly on spatio-temporal analyses. Recently, Pavoine et al. (2009a) developed this approach to understand rockfish (genus: *Sebastes*) phylogenetic diversity (as measured by the quadratic entropy, see Table 1) in the Southern California Bight. The global diversity of the rockfish assemblage was measured within the whole period of study (1980–2007; the  $\gamma$ -like component), within each year (the  $\alpha$ -like component) and among years (the  $\beta$ -like component). This approach tests whether differences among years are higher than expected by chance. Pavoine et al. (2009a) demonstrated significant temporal changes in the phylogenetic composition of the assemblage driven by a drastic decline in abundance of six lineages. By contrast, an increase in the abundance of other lineages followed La Niña events. Such temporal analyses reveal the impact of global changes (here fishing pressure and sea water warming). The quadratic entropy index used in the Pavoine et al. (2009a) study has even more potential. It can, for instance, allow spatio-temporal diversity decomposition where total diversity is divided into a component of diversity within time and space units, a component due to differences between time units, a component due to differences between spatial units and an interaction component due to the combined effects

of time and space (mathematical approaches for these decompositions can be found in Rao, 1986). The quadratic entropy has been adapted to measure species diversity, trait diversity and phylogenetic diversity in a wide range of applications (Pavoine *et al.*, 2004; Botta-Dukát, 2005). Yet, we still find no applications of such spatio-temporal decompositions to understanding biodiversity.

In this Section we have demonstrated that the measures and approaches to species, trait, and phylogenetic diversity could be unified. Unifying semantic differences as described in Section II and unifying appropriate statistical frameworks as argued in this section are essential steps in linking distinct measures of diversity. There remain many unexplored mathematical aspects of biodiversity analyses which could be very promising. This is acutely true where the focus is on the effects of global change on biodiversity. In the subsequent sections of this review we demonstrate why the inclusion of phylogenetic and trait diversity, in addition to species diversity, into community assembly studies will enhance our understanding of the processes that underpin ecological community compositions.

# IV. EXPLORING A MULTI-DIMENSIONAL APPROACH TO BIODIVERSITY

While most studies of diversity focused on species, traits, or phylogeny, some have tracked patterns associated with combinations of diversity measures to draw stronger inferences on the potential ecological and evolutionary processes that affect the compositions of communities and regions. For example, within a region, high species- $\beta$ -diversity (species turnover) could occur through deterministic environmental filtering or limited dispersal. To distinguish between these two mechanisms, patterns in trait, phylogenetic and species diversity can be used. Under environmental filtering the differences among habitats in terms of traits (and phylogeny if traits have a phylogenetic signal) are high, because trait values are associated with habitat characteristics. It is thus expected that for a given amount of species turnover among habitats, environmental filtering leads to higher trait turnover than expected if species were distributed randomly across the habitats. In the African rainforest, inselbergs that comprise a range of ecological microhabitats differ in levels of plant diversity. Parmentier & Hardy (2009) found that phylogenetic clustering was significant between plots from different microhabitats and increased with habitat differentiation, suggesting that environmental filtering is the predominant process structuring the assemblage. However, the phylogenetic structure between plots of similar microhabitats was random. Observed species differences between plots of similar microhabitats (which increased with geographic distance), were affected by limited dispersal. As the phylogenetic differences between plots with distinct ecologies were close to the root of the phylogenetic tree, Parmentier & Hardy (2009) hypothesized that the relationships between phylogenetic structure and environmental filtering were primarily due to ancient diversification events in the plant communities followed by phylogenetic conservatism.

If our goal is to seek general principles underlying community assembly then we advocate that these will only emerge by adopting a more pluralistic approach and combining observed patterns for several indices of diversity (Table 2).

### (1) Species richness *versus* trait and phylogenetic diversity

By understanding the link between species diversity, trait diversity and phylogenetic diversity it will be possible to identify the mechanisms that shaped local communities (Table 2). Patterns of phylogenetic richness at large spatial scales are likely to be primarily determined by species richness. However, the spatial patterns of the relative phylogenetic richness (phylogenetic richness divided by species richness) might provide insights into the historical evolutionary processes including the balance between speciation and extinction that affect community assembly. This is likely as the spatial representation of relative phylogenetic richness will allow changes in phylogenetic richness that are not caused by species richness to be realized. Davies et al. (2007) for instance explained global variation in parrot (Aves: Psittaciformes) species richness through the correlations between relative phylogenetic diversity and environmental factors (Table 2). Extending measures of biodiversity to more than two indices is likely to be essential in highlighting the suite of mechanisms affecting species distribution. Understanding the decomposition of trait and phylogenetic diversity into richness, regularity and divergence will be essential to this goal (Mason *et al.*, 2008*a*).

#### (2) Traits might explain phylogenetic diversity...

Understanding how traits change and evolve is necessary for interpreting the patterns of phylogenetic overdispersion versus clustering (Table 3). Indeed, both competition associated with traits that have been conserved through evolutionary time (niche conservatism) and environmental filtering processes associated with traits that have converged through evolution can lead to local phylogenetic overdispersion within communities (Kraft et al., 2007). Measuring trait diversity in addition to phylogenetic diversity distinguishes between these alternative mechanisms: in communities that display high phylogenetic diversity, high trait diversity tends to suggest that competition on phylogenetically conserved traits is the main driver, whereas low trait diversity is evidence for environmental filtering on convergent traits. The presence of environmental filtering should be determined by clear associations between environments and traits (see Mayfield & Levine, 2010 for other possible mechanisms).

#### (3) ... and phylogeny might explain trait diversity

Variation in trait states may be partitioned into components related to (a) a species' environment, (b) both environment and phylogeny, (c) phylogeny, and (d) an unexplained component (error) (Desdevises *et al.*, 2003). These relative components provide insights into the mechanisms that can determine trait diversity (Diniz-Filho & Bini, 2008). A high value for (a) might indicate that species have responded to environmental changes through adaptations; either by phenotypic plasticity or by evolving adaptations in the traits without geographic range shifts. A high (b) value might indicate that species evolved according to niche conservatism if there is a causal relationship between phylogeny and the environment. Component (c) arises through long-term evolutionary constraints and stabilizing selection.

## (4) Different patterns revealed by different aspects of biodiversity

Most applications of biodiversity indices use a single measure of either trait or phylogenetic diversity. Few studies have compared trait richness, trait regularity and trait divergence or phylogenetic richness, phylogenetic regularity and phylogenetic divergence. Yet, it is expected that trait and/or phylogenetic richness, regularity and divergence are related to distinct mechanisms affecting community assembly. For instance, by using a taxonomy instead of a phylogeny, it has been found that, for fish, zoobenthos and macrophytes, eutrophication in lagoons in southern

Table 2.	Overview of	potential	explanations fo	r the positive	or negative	correlations	between tw	o indices o	of diversity
----------	-------------	-----------	-----------------	----------------	-------------	--------------	------------	-------------	--------------

Pattern	Explanations	References
Evolutionary pathways of traits Positive correlation between trait and phylogenetic diversity	- Phylogenetic signal; phylogenetic niche	Losos (2008)
No relationships between trait and phylogenetic diversity	- Traits were all labile; mixture of conserved and labile traits	Losos (2008)
Community ecology		
At global scales ( $\gamma$ ): High species richness and low relative phylogenetic diversity	Biogeographic and historical factors - Increase in speciation rates when species richness is driven by topographic variability	Davies et al. (2007)
Frijngenne antranj	- Areas where sympatric species occurred by rapid adaptive radiation; areas that are cradle of evolution	Davies <i>et al.</i> (2007)
High species richness and high relative phylogenetic diversity	<ul> <li>Decrease in extinction rates where driven by productive energy and generally by ambient energy</li> </ul>	Davies <i>et al.</i> (2007)
	<ul> <li>Areas that were colonized early and had more time for speciation</li> </ul>	Wiens & Donoghue (2004)
At local scales ( $\alpha$ ):	Ecological factors	
Low trait diversity relative to species diversity	- Environmental filtering if associated with	Holdaway & Sparrow (2006)
High trait diversity relative to species diversity	<ul> <li>Limiting similarity processes (e.g. competition, mutualism, facilitation) at small spatial scales</li> </ul>	Holdaway & Sparrow (2006)
High species diversity and high trait diversity	- Heterogeneity and niche complementarity (e.g. following disturbance)	Mayfield et al. (2005); Grime (2006)
No relationships between species diversity and trait diversity	<ul> <li>Balance between environmental filtering and limiting similarity</li> </ul>	Hubbell (2006); Mason et al. (2008b)
Low phylogenetic diversity and high trait diversity relative to species diversity	<ul> <li>Negative interactions between related, similar species, leading to character displacement and/or replacement by less similar species</li> </ul>	Prinzing et al. (2008)
Turnover ( $\beta$ , linking $\gamma$ with $\alpha$ )	Ecological and historical factors interact	
High species $\beta$ -diversity <sup>1</sup> and low trait $\beta$ -diversity <sup>1</sup>	- Within patches of similar habitat, community assemblage might be historically contingent due to species sequence arrival (stochastic factors) and deterministic due to environmental filtering	Fukami et al. (2005)
	- Competition within patches of similar habitat	Slingsby & Verboom (2006)
High species $\beta$ -diversity <sup>1</sup> , high trait $\beta$ -diversity <sup>1</sup>	- Environmental filtering: $\beta$ -diversity is high between patches of different habitats	Cavender-Bares et al. (2006)
High phylo $\beta$ -diversity <sup>1</sup> and high trait $\beta$ -diversity <sup>1</sup>	- Environmental filtering and niche conservatism	Kraft et al. (2007)
Low phylo $\beta$ -diversity <sup>1</sup> and high trait	- Environmental filtering and trait	Kraft et al. (2007)
Low or random phylo $\beta$ -diversity <sup>1</sup> and low trait $\beta$ -diversity <sup>1</sup>	- Competition and niche conservatism	Kraft et al. (2007)

<sup>1</sup>Low (versus high) species  $\beta$ -diversity means low (versus high) turnover between communities and thus higher (versus lower)  $\alpha$  species diversity than expected given the regional species pools; low (versus high) trait  $\beta$ -diversity means low (versus high) differences in trait composition between communities and thus higher (versus lower)  $\alpha$  trait diversity than expected given the regional species pools, which corresponds to local trait overdispersion (versus clustering); Low (versus high) phylo  $\beta$ -diversity means low (versus high) differences in the phylogenetic composition between communities and thus higher (versus lower)  $\alpha$  phylogenetic diversity than expected given the regional species pools, which corresponds to local phylogenetic overdispersion (versus clustering).

France had low impact on species richness and taxonomic divergence but led to taxonomic skewness due to nonrandom loss of species (Mouillot *et al.*, 2005*a*).

Consequently, combining diversity indices into twodimensional plots or by using multidimensional statistical techniques could help to tease out the mechanisms that Table 3. Examples of the connections between trait evolution and trait patterns (linked to ecological processes) with the phylogenetic pattern of a metacommunity. This table is based on Table 1 in Webb *et al.* (2002) and Table 1 in Kraft *et al.* (2007). However it allows traits to follow different evolutionary pathways. We assume that  $\beta$  traits have been selected where environmental filtering acts, and  $\alpha$  traits where limiting similarity acts (Pickett & Bazzaz, 1978; Ackerly *et al.*, 2006; Silvertown *et al.*, 2006)

	Conserved $\alpha$ and $\beta$ traits	Convergent $\alpha$ traits; conserved $\beta$ traits	Convergent $\alpha$ and $\beta$ traits
Environmental filtering (trait clustering)	Phylogenetic clustering	Phylogenetic clustering	Phylogenetic overdispersion
Limiting similarity (trait overdispersion)	Phylogenetic overdispersion	Phylogenetic clustering or randomness	Phylogenetic clustering or randomness
Balance between environmental filtering and limiting similarity <sup>1</sup> (trait randomness)	Phylogenetic randomness	Phylogenetic clustering or randomness	Phylogenetic randomness

<sup>1</sup>Trait diversity is measured on a mix of  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  traits.

shape communities at several spatial scales. Furthermore considering the differences between trait and phylogenetic diversity is crucial in order to distinguish between local ecological and broad, historical, biogeographic processes.

#### V. EMPIRICAL RESULTS: LINKING BIODIVERSITY WITH HISTORY AND BIOGEOGRAPHY

At large scales, the majority of original studies on biodiversity focussed on measures of species richness and ignored evolutionary and functional processes associated with diversity. Trait diversity is still seldom used at large scales, probably as it requires the characterization of carefully selected traits for numerous species and clades. Likewise, phylogenetic methods have been mostly developed to reconstruct the environment, area and date of origin associated with lineages, to identify the evolutionary processes that have led to differences between extant species, to estimate extinction and diversification rates (Ricklefs, 2007), and to search for the phylogenetic identity of invasive and endangered species, but less often to measure phylogenetic diversity. We review below the handful of studies that combined phylogenetic diversity analysis at broad scales with analyses of species diversity or trait diversity. Throughout this part of the review, we demonstrate that comparing phylogenetic diversity with species diversity can reveal historic processes including recent adaptive radiation, high immigration rates, differences in speciation rates, and range expansion among lineages. Furthermore, combining phylogenetic and trait diversity can be used to disentangle hypotheses on historical and biogeographic processes versus ecological processes in determining species compositions of communities and regions. Consequently, we advocate that ongoing research should focus on merging phylogenetic analyses with species and trait diversity analyses with the objective of resolving the determinants of community diversity and structures.

## (1) Linking species richness with phylogenetic diversity to reveal assembly formation processes

Correlating species diversity with phylogenetic diversity has helped to illustrate the sequence of speciation and dispersal events in assemblage formation processes. For instance, Cardillo, Gittleman & Purvis (2008) found that, in the majority of island mammal assemblages, phylogenetic patterns were random. This might be explained by a lack of phylogenetic signal in key ecological traits, although trait values were not available to verify this hypothesis. Nevertheless, on land-bridge islands, phylogenetic divergence in some mammal taxa tended to be higher in islands with high species richness, high maximum elevation, greater habitat homogeneity, or small area. Landbridge islands are likely to have resulted from restricted sets of species isolated by rising sea level at the end of the Pleistocene, that were subsequently affected by selective or random extinction. Accordingly, apart from possible humaninduced extinctions and introductions, these patterns of phylogenetic and species diversity can be interpreted by competition for resources and selective extinctions after the islands were isolated. By contrast, phylogenetic divergence on oceanic islands was weakly associated with island attributes and decreased with species richness. For part of the taxa (primates, rodents), this might indicate that oceanic islands were predominantly shaped by colonization and endemic speciation leading to low phylogenetic divergence within an island despite high species richness. More generally, low phylogenetic diversity associated with high species richness and endemism might indicate hotspots of recent adaptive radiation (e.g. Cape floristic region of South Africa and oceanic archipelagos such as Hawaii) that were formed by sympatric species that subsequently diversified extensively (Slingsby & Verboom, 2006).

In the analysis of assembly formation processes, phylogenetic skewness might be used to complement other aspects of phylogenetic diversity including phylogenetic richness and divergence, and phylogenetic overdispersion *versus* clustering. Phylogenetic skewness (imbalance of the phylogenetic tree shape as opposed to phylogenetic regularity, see Section II) was developed in biodiversity studies by Clarke & Warwick (2001) but is still seldom applied in empirical studies. Yet it might reveal evolutionary and historical processes of diversification and expansion at the origin of assembly formation. Indeed, phylogenetic skewness might arise if radiations are geographically limited, when subclades achieve different diversification success in different areas, and when some lineages are inherently more likely to speciate (or are less vulnerable to extinction). It can also appear when some species extend their ranges further and faster than others (as observed in African primates; Heard & Cox, 2007).

Accordingly, through these studies, we demonstrate that hypotheses on colonization, expansion, diversification, and extinction processes might be drawn by associating studies on species diversity with those of a multi-dimensional approach to phylogenetic diversity. In one subsequent step, the time for speciation hypothesis developed below connects colonization events with the level and direction of speciation and explains species richness patterns with phylogenetic diversity patterns.

### (2) Phylogenetic diversity disentangles large-scale gradients in species richness

A high phylogenetic diversity across a region might be used as evidence to determine the origin of a species group when other arguments have been assembled (e.g. Braby, Trueman & Eastwood, 2005). Indeed, according to the "time-forspeciation" hypothesis, an area colonized early has had more time to diversify (leading to both high species and phylogenetic richness) than areas more recently colonized by a subset of lineages that have had less time to diversify (low species and phylogenetic richness). Nevertheless, high species and phylogenetic richness might arise from other mechanisms including high diversification rates. High species richness in an area can thus be explained by the "time-forspeciation" hypothesis if it can be demonstrated that the area was colonized early (in comparison with specified reference areas with lower species richness), that the area exhibits high phylogenetic richness, and that species within the area did not emerge as a result of a high diversification rate. To date, the "time-for-speciation" hypothesis has been most extensively tested along large-scale geographic gradients (Wiens & Donoghue, 2004).

The question of understanding why assemblages are species-rich or -poor has more recently been extended to why clades have dispersed into some areas but not others (Wiens & Donoghue, 2004). Here, to illustrate this, we explore the use of phylogenetic diversity in understanding one of the most well-studied large-scale patterns in species richness: the latitudinal gradient where species numbers increase from the poles to the equator. The mechanisms invoked to describe this pattern have focussed on a bias in diversification rates due to buffers against extinction and/or an acceleration in speciation due to metabolic activation or a greater climatic zonation on tropical mountain slopes providing opportunities for geographic isolation (Ricklefs, 2006; Kozak & Wiens, 2007; Svenning et al., 2008); see Mittelbach et al. (2007) for a review of other potential mechanisms. More recently, climatic niche conservatism controlling dispersal has also been proposed as one of the probable causes of the latitudinal bias in species richness (Wiens & Donoghue, 2004; Pyron & Burbrink, 2009), at least for a large range of groups of organisms. This hypothesis predicts higher phylogenetic diversity (many older clades) in the original climate area (Wiens & Donoghue, 2004) and links the time-for-speciation hypothesis with dispersal mechanisms (e.g. limited dispersal from the original climatic region). It assumes that the traits associated with climatic preferences of species are conserved in the phylogeny, strongly restricting the ability of species to adapt to new climatic environments. The hypothesis is, therefore, contingent on both ecological and evolutionary history.

For example, New World leaf bat (Phyllostomidae) diversity can be described by the climatic conservatism hypothesis (Stevens, 2006). In this study, Stevens (2006) proposed a novel test of the climatic conservatism hypothesis. He not only determined patterns in species and phylogenetic diversity but also tested if the observed phylogenetic diversity could be confounded with species richness. A phylogenetic tree was built from nuclear and mitochondrial genes and several aspects of phylogenetic structure were used. They relate to the amount of independent evolutionary time (mean and variance in species ages, i.e. time from speciation) and to the overall amount of evolutionary time (mean and variance of the distance from a taxon to the root of the phylogenetic tree). All these measures evaluate the mean and variance in species contributions to phylogenetic richness. As specified in Kerr & Currie (1999), the distance of a taxon to the root of the phyllostomid tree was used as a measure of the rate of sequence divergence of that taxon; taxa with long root distances being the product of more diversification than taxa with short root distances. Species average age and the variance in the distance from a taxon to the root of the phylogenetic tree were shown to decrease with latitude. Furthermore, the average distance from a taxon to the root of the phylogenetic tree first decreased and then increased with latitude. By contrast, the variance in species ages was not correlated with latitude. Sampling of species demonstrated that these patterns of phylogenetic diversity could not have been obtained randomly from species richness. Accordingly, as the proportion of the most derived and least variable taxa increased from the centre to the periphery of the geographic range in this family of bats, this suggests that climatic niche conservatism and a continuously expanding geographic range explain the diversity in this group of species.

Phylogenetic diversity patterns have thus helped to identify the processes that underpin the latitudinal gradients in species richness. Nevertheless, the power of phylogenetic diversity to explain species richness patterns is contingent on specific geographic or taxon constraints. For example, climatic and landcover variables but not phylogenetic diversity (measured as mean taxon age) explained variation in species richness in cicindelids (tiger beetles) and freshwater fish in North America (Kerr & Currie, 1999). In addition, Algar, Kerr & Currie (2009) found that, in treefrogs (Hylidae) in the western hemisphere, phylo- $\alpha$ -diversity (within 100 × 100 km equal area quadrats) and phylo- $\beta$ -diversity (among quadrats) were strongly related to minimum annual temperature, indicating conservatism in cold tolerance. However, local species richness was determined solely by precipitation and not by temperature.

#### (3) What about trait diversity?

Studies of trait diversity at large scales are scarce (but see, Willig, 2001; Davies et al., 2003; Stevens et al., 2003; Micheli & Halpern, 2005; Beche & Statzner, 2009; Ingram & Shurin, 2009). We found no studies that combined species, trait and phylogenetic diversity at large spatial or temporal scales. Yet trait diversity could also help to disentangle large-scale patterns including latitudinal gradients in species richness. This is why the establishment of large trait databases is crucial (e.g. Kleyer et al., 2008); and we suggest that new research on the mechanisms that determine community structure at large scales should include trait diversity. Indeed, for instance, the increase in species richness towards the equator could occur due to an increase in the number of functional groups within a community as well as the number of species per functional group (Willig, 2001). By comparing species richness with functional diversity measures, Stevens et al. (2003) found that trait diversity in New World bat communities generally increased towards the equator at a faster rate than expected given spatial variation in species richness. They found that this pattern in trait diversity is dependent on the composition of species at the regional scale. Furthermore, local communities were characterised by trait clustering (lower trait diversity than expected), a few functional groups dominating species richness by having large numbers of species. The traits included in this analysis were those associated with resource exploitation. This indicated that the increase in trait diversity with decreasing latitude could be due to the combined effects of local variations in the quantity and quality of resources and regional variations in species composition (species- $\beta$ -diversity among regions, especially at the area of transition between temperate and subtropical zones). Combining these results with those given in Stevens (2006) (see Section V.2), these differences in species composition across regions might be due to species expanding their geographic range differently because of climatic niche conservatism.

Another interesting aspect of trait diversity at large scales is that, combined with species (or genus) diversity (Beche & Statzner, 2009) or phylogenetic diversity (Ingram & Shurin, 2009), it can discriminate between local *versus* long-term biogeographic processes in determining the composition of local assemblages. For instance, Ingram & Shurin (2009) analysed 30 published Pacific rockfish (*Sebastes* spp.) assemblages. They analysed diversity in morphology (represented by body size and eye size) and dietary variables (represented by gill raker length and number). They found overdispersion in gill raker length and number (and to a lower extent in body size) indicating limiting similarity where biotic forces (e.g. competition, mutualism) tend to keep coexisting species from being too similar (leading to high local trait diversity). By contrast, they found clustering in eye size indicating environmental filtering where abiotic forces act to constrain certain traits within limits (leading to low local trait diversity). They also found phylogenetic overdispersion. This could not be explained by the traits included in the analyses because they revealed either clustering or overdispersion and had low phylogenetic signal. Phylogenetic diversity increased in deeper and higher latitude assemblages and decreased in shallow southern assemblages. Again this pattern contrasts with trait diversity as the diversities in body size and gill raker characteristics were insensitive to both depth and latitude, whereas patterns of diversity in eye size with depth and latitude contradicted those of phylogenetic diversity. Ingram & Shurin (2009) concluded that traits were affected by local ecological processes while phylogenetic diversity was affected by the biogeographic history of the Sebastes genus in the northeast Pacific. Sebastes species originated from the north-west Pacific and expanded southward and inshore followed by repeated speciation. Accordingly, the higher phylogenetic diversity in the ancestral deep and high-latitude habitats might be due to the migration of recent lineages south and inshore.

In this section, we demonstrated that, coupled together, species, trait and phylogenetic diversities have the potential to discriminate ecological and historical processes at large scales. A striking point of these large-scale studies is that the indices used to evaluate phylogenetic structures (e.g. average species age) are often different from those given in Table 1 and primarily used at local scales. As continental processes might affect regional and local processes, we advocate that new studies of phylogenetic diversity at broad scales also include those indices given in Table 1, so that the measurement of phylogenetic diversity at both broad and local scales could be usefully compared. Summarizing the results of this section we can state that low phylogenetic richness and/or divergence associated with high species richness and endemism indicates that communities have been assembled from a recent adaptive radiation; high phylogenetic richness/divergence indicates high immigration rates from larger spatial scales with low geographic and/or climatic barriers, or ancient areas. High phylogenetic regularity might arise if lineages are equally likely to speciate or to expand their range. Finally, the comparison of the level of species or phylogenetic variation across regions to the level of trait change might indicate the relative importance of biogeographic, historical factors (e.g. colonization and endemic speciation events) versus local ecological factors that drive assemblage formation. Regarding our main objective, these results demonstrate the necessity to combine several aspects of biodiversity (here species richness, phylogenetic and, if possible, trait richness/regularity/divergence) in the search for community assembly processes.

### VI. DIVERSITY AT THE LOCAL SCALE: EMPIRICAL PATTERNS

At local scales, many evolutionary and ecological processes affect patterns of diversity. These include major components of neutral community models: random speciation and extinction, ecological drift, and also interactions among individuals provided that they are unrelated to fitness differences among species. By contrast, fitness-dependent competition, facilitation, mutualism and environmental filtering are deterministic processes (acting through fitness differences among species according to abiotic or biotic interactions; major components of niche-based models) affecting diversity. An important question is how biodiversity patterns could help to distinguish between stochastic and deterministic forces affecting community structure. Several studies on a variety of taxa have demonstrated that local trait and phylogenetic diversity patterns are associated with environmental factors and species interactions indicating that deterministic ecological processes act within local communities. These studies focused, for example, on yeasts (Anderson, Lachance & Starmer, 2004), grasslands (Fukami et al., 2005; Mayfield et al., 2005), herb-layer plants (Gerhold et al., 2008), trees (Webb, 2000; Cavender-Bares et al., 2006), geographic plant ranges (Chave et al., 2007), fishes (Helmus et al., 2007b; Mason et al., 2008b), birds (Lovette & Hochachka, 2006), and bats (Stevens et al., 2003). Here, we have selected some of those studies that combined several aspects of biodiversity to draw hypotheses on the mechanisms that shape the composition of communities. Fig. 3 summarizes patterns and processes associated with species and trait diversity acting at the local scale. The combined analysis of species diversity and trait diversity (and/or phylogenetic diversity) at the local scale has highlighted that communities that are structured by ecological processes such as competition and environmental filtering are driven more by niche-based than neutral processes. By contrast, neutral processes may be more likely in species-rich communities that are dispersal-limited and where the success of new species (through reproduction and/or immigration) is low (Hubbell, 2006). Neutral processes might also act within groups of species with similar ecological traits, whereas nichedriven processes will act between groups (Bonsall, Jansen & Hassell, 2004; Herault, 2007) to influence community assembly. The addition of phylogenetic diversity with trait diversity still remains to be clarified. Indeed many studies used phylogenetic diversity as a proxy for trait diversity. We advocate that future research studies should highlight the crucial role of phylogenetic data in determining the evolutionary processes that underpin both species and trait diversity.

#### (1) Phylogenies or traits

It has been hypothesized that at local scales ecological factors act faster than biogeographic and/or historical factors (Ricklefs, 2004). Consequently, trait diversity is used to explore the ecological mechanisms associated with local community assembly. However, a critical step in the

measurement of trait diversity is the choice of a subset of traits and the measurement of the trait values for a wide range of species (Petchey *et al.*, 2009). Given that phylogenetic details integrate more information on trait diversity than a simple finite set of traits, one possibility is to focus on phylogenetic diversity, even if the goal is to interpret the observed patterns of a (meta)community in terms of traits. Many studies have thus used phylogenetic relatedness as a proxy for trait similarity (Swenson & Enquist, 2009).

However, a problem of conflating phylogenetic diversity with trait diversity in understanding assembly patterns is that the phylogenetic signal of the metacommunity will ultimately depend on the evolutionary pathways that important traits have followed. Recent studies of community assembly have opposed conserved traits against convergent traits (Webb et al., 2002; Cavender-Bares et al., 2006). Conservation here means phylogenetic signal in trait variation across species (more closely related taxa are more similar) rather than higher phylogenetic signal than expected from a Brownian model (which would imply mechanisms that decrease trait evolutionary rates) (Losos, 2008). Convergence here means that related species pairs display, on average, traits more dissimilar than less-related species pairs. The use of phylogenetic diversity as a surrogate for trait diversity is often justified by the fact that, even if some traits affecting community organization are evolutionary labile, most of them are expected to exhibit some phylogenetic signal (through ancestor legacy) (Webb, 2000). However no congruence has been obtained so far on the conserved or convergent status of traits involved in distinct ecological processes (Ackerly, 2003; Ackerly, Schwilk & Webb, 2006; Emerson & Gillepsie, 2008; Losos, 2008). This is why we advocate shifting from considering phylogeny as a proxy to considering phylogeny as a complementary source of information for revealing evolutionary and biogeographic processes underpinning diversity.

### (2) Using both phylogenies and traits to disentangle local processes

Phylogenetic diversity studies indeed add an extra dimension to understanding local processes by revealing historically contingent processes. Harrison & Cornell (2007 page S1) stated that "community phylogeny merges the ecologist's traditional concern with the distribution of traits among coexisting taxa with phylogenetic approaches to understanding where and when those traits evolved". Accordingly, instead of using phylogenetic diversity as a proxy for trait diversity, we should follow this idea of "community phylogeny" and use phylogeny to evaluate the evolutionary history of key traits involved in ecological processes (e.g. environmental filtering) at local scales. Such an approach has the potential to associate prospective approaches, asking how present-day ecological processes may lead to evolutionary changes, and retrospective approaches, asking how present-day ecological conditions can be understood as the outcome of historical contingent events (Losos, 1994). The connections between prospective and retrospective approaches should be the focus



Biological Reviews (2010) 000-000 © 2010 The Authors, Biological Reviews © 2010 Cambridge Philosophical Society

trait and species diversity at local scales and/or high trait and species turnover between local spatial units. High trait diversity at larger scales is necessary for the occupation of various niches at lower scales. The level of diversity at one scale is given relative to its level at the higher scale. Low diversity at  $\alpha_1$  level means lower diversity within a local community at  $\alpha_1$  level than expected from the diversity at  $\gamma_1$  level in absence of deterministic processes. We consider that trait (species)  $\beta$  and  $\alpha$  diversity are random if traits

species) are distributed randomly within local communities and/or patches as specified.

of ongoing studies. Recently, Prinzing *et al.* (2008) determined that communities of phylogenetically related species might be more prone to trait overdispersion through character displacement or species replacement to limit species competition. In addition, several studies demonstrated that interactions among species can have feedbacks on evolutionary processes causing *in situ* speciation, adaptive radiation (Cavender-Bares *et al.*, 2009) and random or convergent trait evolution (Losos *et al.*, 2003; Elias *et al.*, 2008).

New methodologies are now developed to analyse patterns in trait diversity with an explicitly phylogenetic context. As highlighted in Section IV, to merge evolutionary with ecological approaches, some suggested partitioning the variation in trait values across phylogenetic and ecological (environment and/or space) factors (e.g. Desdevises et al., 2003; Freckleton & Jetz, 2009). This process might be used to evaluate the level of phylogenetic signals in trait variation. It might also be used to evaluate phylogenetic niche conservatism. Traits are under phylogenetic niche conservatism if their variation is explained by environmental factors that are correlated with phylogenetic factors. Recently, Pillar & Duarte (2010) highlighted how to evaluate phylogenetic niche conservatism by combining tests for phylogenetic signals with tests for associations between trait diversity and environmental gradients. They analysed plant diversity along a grazing gradient in natural grasslands in Brazil. They selected seven functional traits and found that four had a significant phylogenetic signal. However only two displayed a significant phylogenetic signal at the metacommunity level: i.e. communities that were more similar in their phylogenetic structure were also more similar in their average trait values. Furthermore, the traits that were associated with environmental filtering across the grazing gradient were those that had no phylogenetic signal. Accordingly, the traits involved in the environmental gradient evolved independently of the phylogeny. Phylogeny and environment thus independently explained the values of distinct traits, which invalidates the assumption of phylogenetic niche conservatism.

Moreover, rather than searching for global patterns of evolutionary and ecological factors across whole communities, future research should ask which traits, which lineages and which environmental variables are responsible for patterns of the composition of communities within a region. Mayfield, Boni & Ackerly (2009) determined environmental filtering effects not across whole communities but from specific clades. In a fragmented southern Costa Rican landscape, they demonstrated associations between rain forest understorey and animal dispersal traits in monocots, rain forest understorey and insect pollination in the Piperaceae, and deforested habitats and wind dispersal in some Asterids. Their approach evaluates whether individual clades are maintained in a habitat because of environmental filtering, which provides a precise indication on the predominance of ecological processes over historical processes in determining phylogenetic diversity patterns. In a similar vein, Pavoine et al. (2010) showed how trait diversity might be decomposed across the nodes of a phylogenetic tree

revealing which lineages contribute more to trait diversity. Here trait diversity may incorporate species abundances and the phylogenetic pattern in trait diversity may be compared across spatial scales. This may determine whether the clades that contribute more to trait diversity at a regional scale are those that contribute to trait diversity at a local scale. Ubiquitous clades are likely to affect all scales while clades with limited dispersal will have their highest influence in patterns of trait diversity at the local scale. Applied to butterfly communities of chalk grassland in northern France and southern Belgium, they found that environmental filtering in traits with limited phylogenetic signal determined the cooccurrence of species in local communities. Trait diversity within local communities was mainly due to trait differences among species within three families (Nymphalidae, Satyridae and Pieridae) whereas trait diversity at the metacommunity level was determined by large trait differences both within and among seven families.

Here, we have separated the empirical studies between large scales and local scales. Of course there is a continuum in the scales at which studies are performed and some combine local, regional and large-scale processes. Nevertheless, it should be noted that the use of phylogenetic diversity as an indicator of historical processes is more pronounced in largescale, biogeographic studies. Most local-scale studies have so far used phylogenetic diversity as a proxy for trait diversity, or to validate the results obtained with a limited number of traits (evaluating whether some important traits could have been omitted from the analysis). Yet, in summary, studying trait diversity in a phylogenetic context has the potential to highlight: (i) whether important traits have been omitted (if structures are found in the phylogenetic relatedness among species but not in their trait states); (i) whether phylogenetic patterns are due to phylogenetic niche conservatism, implying both phylogenetic signals and environmental filtering in trait values; (iii) whether a particular clade is maintained in a habitat because of environmental filtering; (iv) whether the clades that contribute to regional trait diversity also contribute to local trait diversity; and (v) whether ecological factors such as species interactions might have affected the shape of the phylogeny leading to speciation and radiation. Species diversity should not be excluded from these analyses, and obviously the patterns of trait diversity at local scales can be interpreted more broadly when compared to patterns of species diversity (see Fig. 3). Based on this we advocate studies that compare species diversity, trait diversity and phylogenetic diversity across spatial scales to reveal the patterns of community structure driven by diversity.

#### VII. DIRECTIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH

Synthesizing findings on patterns of species, trait, and phylogenetic diversity could open up a range of new questions and answering these questions will be essential in order to understand the future of biodiversity in terms of changes in ecosystem function and losses of evolutionary history.

# (1) Do trait diversity and phylogenetic diversity increase with spatial distances?

It is well-known that biogeographic patterns and correlations change with distance (Fortin & Dale, 2005). From this, the distance-decay similarity principle assumes that the similarity in species composition between patches is expected to decay with the spatial distance between them; and species richness is expected to increase with area size. Few studies have investigated similar trends in trait and phylogenetic diversity (but see Bryant *et al.*, 2008) and this requires further exploration.

# (2) Could phylogenetic and trait diversity explain global-scale gradients?

Across an elevation gradient in Tanzanian tropical rainforest, large tree species richness is random but there is a constant turnover of species composition and an increase in phylogenetic diversity from low to high elevation (Tallents et al., 2005). This pattern reveals restricted elevation ranges at the family level and the occurrence of distinct lineages (notably gymnosperms) at high elevation. The investigation of phylogenetic and trait  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  diversity across wide regions (or gradients) is rare yet it could help to clarify underlying ecological and historical mechanisms affecting the persistence of the regional species pool and the structure of local species assemblages. However, most analysis of trait diversity at large scale calculated trait diversity within local communities only (but see the local plus watershed scales in Beche & Statzner, 2009). Diversifying the spatial scales at which trait and phylogenetic diversity are measured is a challenging aspect to future research on community assembly rules.

# (3) Is it possible to integrate the complementary strengths associated with phylogeny and traits?

Considering phylogenetic diversity as a surrogate for trait diversity is very restrictive. Phylogenetic diversity is a much more inclusive measure that quantifies the combined effects of genetic and phenotypic diversity, and provides historical and evolutionary explanations for patterns in biodiversity. As far as we know only one study has extended traditional analyses by measuring trait diversity with phylogenetically independent contrasts (Tofts & Silvertown, 2000). Another approach integrates trait differences at each level of the phylogenetic tree (Pavoine *et al.*, 2010). More research is needed to exploit both the historical and ecological potential of phylogenetic diversity.

# (4) Could phylogenetic and trait distinctiveness complement studies on biodiversity?

In contrast to diversity, distinctiveness is a species-specific measure that evaluates how a focal species is different from all others in a community. Still seldom investigated, distinctiveness is also associated with key mechanisms, especially species extinction (species distinct in their trait states and phylogenetic position might be more vulnerable; Magnuson-Ford *et al.*, 2009) and invasion (phylogenetically

distinct species are more likely to invade an area without extinction or exclusion of native species; Strauss, Webb & Salamin, 2006). Distinctiveness as a complementary measure to diversity requires more detailed exploration and analysis.

# (5) How much phylogenetic and trait diversity is endangered?

Numerous studies have now explored the question of conserving phylogenetic diversity as a means of conserving both species traits and maintaining diversity for future evolutionary diversification (Forest *et al.*, 2007; May, 2009). However, the problem of directly conserving trait diversity (Fonseca & Ganade, 2001; Dalerum *et al.*, 2009) and species through the processes and mechanisms that drive community assembly (Smith & Grether, 2008) still requires extensive investigation.

### (6) What rationale underlies a diversity index?

The development of diversity indices is still in its infancy. The relationships between measures and processes as described in Table 2 are dependent on the metric used. Contradictory results may appear as a given type of diversity at a given scale could be expressed by various metrics with different statistical behaviours. Consequently, there is a risk of erroneous interpretations especially if simple verbal arguments are followed in a simplistic way. There is a clear and important need for theoretical studies (Pavoine & Bonsall, 2009) and validation against simulated datasets where processes are controlled and clearly defined. Furthermore, the inclusion of additional ecological and evolutionary details (such as intraspecific variation) into trait and phylogenetic diversity indices should be the focus of future studies (e.g. Cianciaruso *et al.*, 2009 for trait diversity).

### VIII. CONCLUSIONS

- (1) The myriad of approaches developed to measure biodiversity has enriched our understanding of community organisation. Each approach captures a different aspect of diversity. Phylogenetic diversity offers historical explanation to large-scale processes that impact local communities and to local ecological processes that feedback on species and trait evolution. Trait diversity highlights more directly the ecological processes that affect local communities.
- (2) Merging trait with phylogenetic diversity analyses requires a unifying vocabulary, appropriate mathematical indices and comprehensive approaches. Here, we have suggested a semantic framework, demonstrated similarities among indices, and accordingly advocate that new developments in biodiversity measurements rely on strong biological and mathematical justifications. Furthermore, measures of diversity should encompass species, trait and

phylogenetic diversity, and include differential weights for species abundances across varying spatio-temporal scales.

- (3) Although few studies have compared species diversity, trait diversity and phylogenetic diversity, we know that phylogenetic and trait diversity patterns are likely to be at least partially correlated with species diversity patterns. In addition, phylogenetic diversity patterns cannot be interpreted without inference on trait diversity patterns, and trait diversity patterns depend on ecological, stochastic and historical, phylogenetic processes. Species, trait and phylogenetic diversity are thus connected and complementary.
- (4) At large spatial scales, such comparisons can help to identify numerous patterns such as adaptive radiation events, geographic or climatic barriers, areas of origin of a species lineage, unequal speciation and range expansion rates among lineages, and the relative importance of biogeographic factors versus local ecological factors in assemblage formation. At local scales, comparative studies can determine, for instance, whether the amount of species diversity and the presence of particular lineages is influenced by ecological processes acting on particular traits.
- (5) Accordingly, to find clear generalities in the mechanisms that underpin community assembly, biodiversity patterns need to be studied across spatial and temporal scales. They should account for the multiple forms of variation embodied in the multifaceted concept of biodiversity. Studies should include not only species, trait, phylogenetic diversity and abundance, but also aspects of richness, regularity and divergence associated with trait and phylogenetic diversity. Future studies should also focus on trait and lineage-specific mechanisms; integrating the idea that ecological and historical biogeographic processes act on a subset of the community.

#### IX. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank three anonymous referees, David Ackerly, Bob May, Owen Petchey, Owen Lewis and Clément Calenge for constructive comments and discussions on this review topic. We also thank the participants of the workshop 'Phylogenies and community ecology' from the 'GDR ComEvol' for useful discussions on phylogenetic diversity analyses. The work was supported by the European Commission under the Marie Curie Programme FP6 (S.P.) and the Royal Society (M.B.B.).

#### X. REFERENCES

- ACKERLY, D. D. (2003). Community assembly, niche conservatism, and adaptive evolution in changing environments. *International Journal of Plant Sciences* 164, S165–S184.
- ACKERLY, D. D., SCHWILK, D. W. & WEBB, C. O. (2006). Niche evolution and adaptive radiation: testing the order of trait divergence. *Ecology* 87, S50–S61.
- ALGAR, A. C., KERR, J. T. & CURRIE, D. J. (2009). Evolutionary constraints on regional faunas: whom, but not how many. *Ecology Letters* 12, 57–65.

- ALLEN, B., KON, M. & BAR-YAM, Y. (2009). A new phylogenetic diversity measure generalizing the Shannon index and its application to Phyllostomid bats. *American Naturalist* 174, 236–243.
- ANDERSON, R. J. & LANDIS, J. R. (1980). CATANOVA for multidimensional contingency tables: nominal-scale response. *Communications in Statistics - Theory and Methods* 9, 1191–1206.
- ANDERSON, T., LACHANCE, M. & STARMER, W. (2004). The relationship of phylogeny to community structure: the cactus yeast community. *American Naturalist* 164, 709–721.
- BECHE, L. A. & STATZNER, B. (2009). Richness gradients of stream invertebrates across the USA: taxonomy- and trait-based approaches. *Biodiversity and Conservation* 18, 3909–3930.
- BONSALL, M. B., JANSEN, V. A. A. & HASSELL, M. P. (2004). Life history trade-offs assemble ecological guilds. *Science* 306, 111–114.
- BOTTA-DUKÁT, Z. (2005). Rao's quadratic entropy as a measure of functional diversity based on multiple traits. *Journal of Vegetation Science* 16, 533–540.
- BRABY, M. F., TRUEMAN, J. W. H. & EASTWOOD, R. (2005). When and where did troidine butterflies (Lepidoptera: Papilionidae) evolve? Phylogenetic and biogeographic evidence suggests an origin in remnant Gondwana in the Late Cretaceous. *Invertebrates Systematics* 19, 113–143.
- BRYANT, J. A., LAMANNA, C., MORLON, H., KERKHOFF, A. J., ENQUIST, A. J. & GREEN, J. L. (2008). Microbes on mountainsides: contrasting elevational patterns of bacterial and plant diversity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 105, 11505–11511.
- CADOTTE, M. W., DAVIES, T. J., REGETZ, J., KEMBEL, S. W., CLELAND, E. & OAKLEY, T. H. (2010). Phylogenetic diversity metrics for ecological communities: integrating species richness, abundance and evolutionary history. *Ecology Letters* 13, 96–105.
- CARDILLO, M., GITTLEMAN, J. L. & PURVIS, A. (2008). Global patterns in the phylogenetic structure of island mammal assemblages. *Proceedings of the Royal Society* of London Series B - Biological Sciences 275, 1549–1556.
- CAVENDER-BARES, J., KEEN, A. & MILES, B. (2006). Phylogenetic structure of Floridian plant communities depends on taxonomic and spatial scale. *Ecology* 87, S109–S122.
- CAVENDER-BARES, J., KOZAK, K., FINE, P. V. A. & KEMBEL, S. W. (2009). The merging of community ecology and phylogenetic biology. *Ecology Letters* 12, 693–715.
- CHASE, J. M., AMARASEKARE, P., COTTENIE, K., GONZALEZ, A., HOLT, R. D., HOLYOAK, M., HOOPES, M. F., LEIBOLD, M. A., LOREAU, M., MOUQUET, N., SHURIN, J. B. & TILMAN, D. (2005). Competing theories for competitive metacommunities. In *Metacommunities: spatial dynamics and ecological communities* (ed. M. HOLYOAK, M. A. LEIBOLD and R. D. HOLT), pp. 335–354. The University of Chicago Press, Chicago.
- CHAVE, J., CHUST, G. & THÉBAUD, C. (2007). The importance of phylogenetic structure in biodiversity studies. In *Scaling Biodiversity* (ed. D. STORCH, P. L. MARQUET and J. H. BROWN), pp. 150–167. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, U.K.
- CIANCIARUSO, M. V., BATALHA, M. A., GASTON, K. J. & PETCHEY, O. L. (2009). Including intraspecific variability in functional diversity. *Ecology* **90**, 81–89.
- CLARKE, K. R. & WARWICK, R. M. (2001). A further biodiversity index applicable to species lists: variation in taxonomic distinctness. *Marine Ecology - Progress Series* 216, 265–278.
- CORNWELL, W. K., SCHWILK, D. W. & ACKERLY, D. D. (2006). A trait-based test for habitat filtering: convex hull volume. *Ecology* 87, 1465–1471.
- COUSINS, S. H. (1991). Species diversity measurement: choosing the right index. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 6, 190–192.
- DALERUM, F., CAMERON, E. Z., KUNKEL, K. & SOMERS, M. J. (2009). Diversity and depletions in continental carnivore guilds: implications for prioritizing global carnivore conservation. *Biology Letters* 5, 35–38.
- DAVIES, R. G., EGGLETON, P., JONES, D. T., GATHORNE-HARDY, F.J. & HERNANDEZ, L. M. (2003). Evolution of termite functional diversity: analysis and synthesis of local ecological and regional influences on local species richness. *Journal* of Biogeography 30, 847–877.
- DAVIES, R. G., ORME, C. D. L., WEBSTER, A. J., JONES, K. E., BLACKBURN, T. M. & GASTON, K. J. (2007). Environmental predictors of global parrot (Aves: Psittaciformes) species richness and phylogenetic diversity. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 16, 220–233.
- DEJONG, T. M. (1975). Comparison of three diversity indexes based on their components of richness and evenness. Oikos 26, 222–227.
- DESDEVISES, Y., LEGENDRE, P., AZOUZI, L. & MORAND, S. (2003). Quantifying phylogenetically structured environmental variation. *Evolution* 57, 2647–2652.
- DINIZ-FILHO, J. A. F. & BINI, L. M. (2008). Macroecology, global change and the shadow of forgotten ancestors. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 17, 11–17.
- ELIAS, M., GOMPERT, Z., JIGGINS, C. & WILLMOTT, K. (2008). Mutualistic interactions drive ecological niche convergence in a diverse butterfly community. *PloS Biology* 6, e300.
- EMERSON, B. C. & GILLEPSIE, R. G. (2008). Phylogenetic analysis of community assembly and structure over space and time. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 23, 619–630.

- FISHER, R. A. (1925). Statistical Methods for Research Workers. Oliver & Boyd, Edinburgh.
- FONSECA, C. R. & GANADE, G. (2001). Species functional redundancy, random extinctions and the stability of ecosystems. *Journal of Ecology* **89**, 118–125.
- FOREST, F., GRENYER, R., ROUGET, M., DAVIES, J., COWLING, R., FAITH, D. P., BALMFORD, A., MANNING, J., PROCHES, S., VAN DER BANK, M., REEVES, G., HEDDERSON, T. A. J. & SAVOLAINEN, V. (2007). Preserving the evolutionary potential of floras in biodiversity hotspots. *Nature* 445, 757–760.
- FORTIN, M.-J. & DALE, M. (2005). Spatial analysis: a guide for ecologists. Cambridge University Press.
- FRECKLETON, R. P. & JETZ, W. (2009). Space versus phylogeny: disentangling phylogenetic and spatial signals in comparative data. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B - Biological Sciences* 276, 21–30.
- FUKAMI, T., BEZEMER, T., MORTIMER, S. & VAN DER PUTTEN, W. (2005). Species divergence and trait convergence in experimental plant community assembly. *Ecology Letters* 12, 1283–1290.
- GANESHAIAH, K. N., CHANDRASHEKARA, K. & KUMAR, A. R. V. (1997). Avalanche index: a new measure of biodiversity based on biological heterogeneity of the communities. *Current Science* **73**, 128–133.
- GERHOLD, P., PÄRTEL, M., LIIRA, J., ZOBEL, K. & PRINZING, A. (2008). Phylogenetic structure of local communities predicts the size of the regional species pool. *Journal* of Ecology 96, 709–712.
- GRAHAM, C. H. & FINE, P. V. A. (2008). Phylogenetic beta diversity: linking ecological and evolutionary processes across space and time. *Ecology Letters* 11, 1265–1277.
- GRIME, J. P. (2006). Trait convergence and trait divergence in herbaceous plant communities: mechanisms and consequences. *Journal of Vegetation Science* 17, 255–260.
- HARDY, O. J. & SENTERRE, B. (2007). Characterizing the phylogenetic structure of communities by an additive partitioning of phylogenetic diversity. *Journal of Ecology* 95, 493–506.
- HARRISON, S. & CORNELL, H. V. (2007). Introduction: merging evolutionary and ecological approaches to understanding geographic gradients in species richness. *American Naturalist* 170, S1–S4.
- HEARD, S. B. & COX, G. H. (2007). The shapes of phylogenetic trees of clades, faunas, and local assemblages: exploring spatial pattern in differential diversification. *American Naturalist* 169, E107–E118.
- HELMUS, M. R., BLAND, T. J., WILLIAMS, C. K. & IVES, A. R. (2007a). Phylogenetic measures of biodiversity. *American Naturalist* 169, E68–E83.
- HELMUS, M. R., SAVAGE, K., DIEBEL, M. W., MAXTED, J. T. & IVES, A. R. (2007b). Separating the determinants of phylogenetic community structure. *Ecology Letters* 10, 917–925.
- HENDRICKSON, J. A. J. & EHRLICH, P. R. (1971). An expanded concept of "species diversity". Notulae Naturae 439, 1–6.
- HERAULT, B. (2007). Reconciling niche and neutrality through Emergent Group approach. Perspectives in Plant Ecology Evolution and Systematics 9, 71–78.
- HILL, M. O. (1973). Diversity and evenness: a unifying notation and its consequences. *Ecology* 54, 427–432.
- HOLDAWAY, R. J. & SPARROW, A. D. (2006). Assembly rules operating along a primary riverbed-grassland successional sequence. *Journal of Ecology* **94**, 1092–1102.
- HOLYOAK, M., LEIBOLD, M. A. & HOLT, R. (2005). Metacommunities: spatial dynamics and ecological communities. Chicago University Press, Chicago.
- HUBBELL, S. P. (2006). Neutral theory and the evolution of ecological equivalence. *Ecology* 87, 1387–1398.
- HURLBERT, S. H. (1971). The non-concept of species diversity: a critique and alternative parameters. *Ecology* 52: 577–586.
- INGRAM, T. & SHURIN, J. B. (2009). Trait-based assembly and phylogenetic structure in northeast Pacific rockfish assemblages. *Ecology* 90, 2444–2453.
- IZSAK, J. & PAPP, L. (2000). A link between ecological diversity indices and measures of biodiversity. *Ecological Modelling* 130, 151–156.
- KERR, J. T. & CURRIE, D. J. (1999). The relative importance of evolutionary and environmental controls on broad-scale patterns of species richness in North America. *Ecoscience* 6, 329–337.
- KLEYER, M., BEKKER, R. M., KNEVEL, I. C., BAKKER, J. P., THOMPSON, K., SONNENSCHEIN, M., POSCHLOD, P., GROENENDAEL, J. M. V., KLIME, L., KLIMESOVÁ, J., KLOTZ, S., RUSCH, G. M., HERMY, M., ADRIAENS, D., BOEDELTJE, G., BOSSUYT, B., DANNEMANN, A., ENDELS, P., GÖTZENBERGER, L., HODGSON, J. G., JACKEL, A.-K., KÜHN, I., KUNZMANN, D., OZINGA, W. A., RÖMERMANN, C., STADLER, M., SCHLEGELMILCH, J., STEENDAM, H. J., TACKENBERG, O., WILMANN, B., CORNELISSEN, J. H. C., ERIKSSON, O., GARNEER, E. & PECO, B. (2008). The LEDA Traitbase: A database of life-history traits of the Northwest European flora. *Journal of Ecology* 96, 1266–1274.
- KOZAK, K. H. & WIENS, J. J. (2007). Climatic zonation drives latitudinal variation in speciation mechanisms. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B-Biological Sciences* 274, 2995–3003.
- KRAFT, N. J. B., CORNWELL, W. K., WEBB, C. O. & ACKERLY, D. D. (2007). Trait evolution, community assembly, and the phylogenetic structure of ecological communities. *American Naturalist* 170, 271–283.

- LALIBERTÉ, E. & LEGENDRE, P. (2010). A distance-based framework for measuring functional diversity from multiple traits. *Ecology* 91, 299–305.
- LANDE, R. (1996). Statistics and partitioning of species diversity, and similarity among multiple communities. *Oikos* 76, 5–13.
- LEGENDRE, P. & LEGENDRE, L. (1998). Numerical ecology, 2nd English edition. Elsevier Science BV, Amsterdam.
- LEWONTIN, R. C. (1972). The apportionment of Human diversity. *Evolutionary Biology* 6, 381–398.
- LIGHT, R. J. & MARGOLIN, B. H. (1971). An analysis of variance for categorical data. *Journal of the American Statistical Association* 66, 534–544.
- LIU, C., WHITTAKER, R. J., MA, K. & MALCOLM, J. R. (2007). Unifying and distinguishing diversity ordering methods for comparing communities. *Population Ecology* 49, 89–100.
- LOSOS, J., LEAL, M., GLOR, R., DE QUEIROZ, K., HERTZ, P., SCHETTINO, L., LARA, A., JACKMAN, T. & LARSON, A. (2003). Niche lability in the evolution of a Caribbean lizard community. *Nature* **424**, 542–545.
- Losos, J. B. (1994). Integrative approaches to evolutionary ecology: Anolis lizards as model systems. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 25, 467–493.
- Losos, J. B. (2008). Phylogenetic niche conservatism, phylogenetic signal and the relationship between phylogenetic relatedness and ecological similarity among species. *Ecology Letters* 11, 995–1007.
- LOVETTE, I. J. & HOCHACHKA, W. M. (2006). Simultaneous effects of phylogenetic niche conservatism and competition on avian community structure. *Ecology* 87, S14–S28.
- MAGNUSON-FORD, K., INGRAM, T., REDDING, D. W. & MOOERS, A. Ø. (2009). Rockfish (*Sebastes*) that are evolutionarily isolated are also large, morphologically distinctive and vulnerable to overfishing. *Biological Conservation* **142**, 1787–1796.
- MAGURRAN, A. E. (2004). *Measuring biological diversity*. Blackwell Publishing, Malden, MA, USA.
- MASON, N. W. H., IRZ, P., LANOISELEE, C., MOUILLOT, D. & ARGILLIER, C. (2008a). Evidence that niche specialisation explains species-energy relationships in lake fish communities. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 77, 285–296.
- MASON, N. W. H., LANOISELEE, C., MOUILLOT, D., WILSON, J. B. & ARGILLIER, C. (2008b). Does niche overlap control relative abundance in French lacustrine fish communities? A new method incorporating functional traits. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 77, 661–669.
- MASON, N. W. H., MOUILLOT, D., LEE, W. G. & WILSON, J. B. (2005). Functional richness, functional evenness and functional divergence: the primary components of functional diversity. *Oikos* 111, 112–118.
- MAY, R. M. (2009). Unanswered questions and why they matter. In *Theoretical ecology: Principals and applications* (ed. R. M. MAY and A. MCLEAN), pp. 205–215. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- MAYFIELD, M., BONI, M., DAILY, G. & ACKERLY, D. (2005). Species and functional diversity of native and human-dominated plant communities. *Ecology* 86, 2365–2372.
- MAYFIELD, M. M., BONI, M. F. & ACKERLY, D. D. (2009). Traits, habitats, and clades: identifying traits of potential importance to environmental filtering. *American Naturalist* 174, E1–E22.
- MAYFIELD, M. M. & LEVINE, J. M. (2010). Opposing effects of competitive exclusion on the phylogenetic structure of communities. *Ecology Letters* 13, 1085–1093.
- MICHELI, F. & HALPERN, B. (2005). Low functional redundancy in coastal marine assemblages. *Ecology Letters* 8, 391–400.
- MITTELBACH, G. G., SCHEMSKE, D. W., CORNELL, H. V., ALLEN, A. P., BROWN, J. M., BUSH, M. B., HARRISON, S. P., HURLBERT, A. H., KNOWLTON, N., LESSIOS, H. A., MCCAIN, C. M., MCCUNE, A. R., MCDADE, L. A., MCPEEK, M. A., NEAR, T. J., PRICE, T. D., RICKLEFS, R. E., ROY, K., SAX, D. F., SCHLUTER, D., SOBEL, J. M. & TURELLI, M. (2007). Evolution and the latitudinal diversity gradient: speciation, extinction and biogeography. *Ecology Letters* **10**, 315–331.
- MOUILLOT, D., LAUNE, J., TOMASINI, J., ALIAUME, C., BREHMER, P., DUTRIEUX, E. & CHI, T. (2005a). Assessment of coastal lagoon quality with taxonomic diversity indices of fish, zoobenthos and macrophyte communities. *Hydrobiologia* 550, 130.
- MOUILLOT, D. & LEPRÊTRE, A. (1999). A comparison of species diversity estimators. *Researches on Population Ecology* 41, 203–215.
- MOUILLOT, D., MASON, W. H. N., DUMAY, O. & WILSON, J. B. (2005b). Functional regularity: a neglected aspect of functional diversity. *Oecologia* 142, 353–359.
- NEI, M. & LI, W.-H. (1979). Mathematical model for studying genetic variation in terms of restriction endonucleases. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the* United States of America 76, 5269–5273.
- PARMENTIER, I. & HARDY, O. J. (2009). The impact of ecological differentiation and dispersal limitation on species turnover and phylogenetic structure of inselberg's plant communities. *Ecography* 32, 613–622.
- PAVOINE, S. (2005). Méthodes statistiques pour la mesure de la biodiversité Statistical methods for measuring biodiversity. Ph.D. thesis, Université Claude Bernard Lyon 1, France.
- PAVOINE, S., BAGUETTE, M. & BONSALL, M. B. (2010). Decomposition of trait diversity among the nodes of a phylogenetic tree. *Ecological Monographs* 80, 485–507.
- PAVOINE, S. & BONSALL, M. B. (2009). Biological diversity: distinct distributions can lead to the maximization of Rao's quadratic entropy. *Theoretical Population Biology* 75, 153–163.

- PAVOINE, S. & DOLÉDEC, S. (2005). The apportionment of quadratic entropy: a useful alternative for partitioning diversity in ecological data. *Environmental and Ecological Statistics* 12, 125–138.
- PAVOINE, S., DUFOUR, A. B. & CHESSEL, D. (2004). From dissimilarities among species to dissimilarities among communities: a double principal coordinate analysis. *Journal of Theoretical Biology* 228, 523–537.
- PAVOINE, S., LOVE, M. & BONSALL, M. B. (2009a). Hierarchical partitioning of evolutionary and ecological patterns in the organization of phylogeneticallystructured species assemblages: application to rockfish (genus: *Sebastes*) in the Southern California Bight. *Ecology Letters* 12, 898–908.
- PAVOINE, S., OLLIER, S. & DUFOUR, A. B. (2005). Is the originality of a species measurable? *Ecology Letters* 8, 579–586.
- PAVOINE, S., OLLIER, S., PONTIER, D. & CHESSEL, D. (2008). Testing for phylogenetic signal in phenotypic traits: new matrices of phylogenetic proximities. *Theoretical Population Biology* 73, 79–91.
- PAVOINE, S., VALLET, J., DUFOUR, A.-B., GACHET, S. & DANIEL, H. (2009b). On the challenge of treating various types of variables: application for improving the measurement of functional diversity. *Oikos* 118, 391–402.
- PÉLISSIER, R. & COUTERON, P. (2007). An operational, additive framework for species diversity partitioning and beta-diversity analysis. *Journal of Ecology* 95, 294–300.
- PETCHEY, O. L. & GASTON, K. (2002). Functional diversity (FD), species richness and community composition. *Ecology Letters* 5, 402–411.
- PETCHEY, O. L. & GASTON, K. J. (2007). Dendrograms and measuring functional diversity. Oikos 116, 1422–1426.
- PETCHEY, O. L., O'GORMAN, E. & FLYNN, D. F. B. (2009). A functional guide to functional diversity measures. In *The consequences of changing biodiversity: Solutions and scenarios* (ed. D. BUNKER, S. NAEEM, M. LOREAU and A. HECTOR), pp. 49–60. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- PICKETT, S. T. A. & BAZZAZ, F. A. (1978). Organization of an assemblage of early successional species on a soil moisture gradient. *Ecology* 59, 1248–1255.
- PILLAR, V. D. & DUARTE, L. D. S. (2010). A framework for metacommunity analysis of phylogenetic structure. *Ecology Letters* 13, 587–596.
- PRINZING, A., REIFFERS, R., BRAAKHEKKE, W. G., HENNEKENS, S. M., TACKENBERG, O., OZINGA, W. A., SCHAMINÉE, J. H. J. & VAN GROENENDAEL, J. M. (2008). Less lineages - more trait variation: phylogenetically clustered plant communities are functionally more diverse. *Ecology Letters* 11, 809–819.
- PYRON, R. A. & BURBRINK, F. T. (2009). Can the tropical conservatism hypothesis explain temperate species richness patterns? An inverse latitudinal biodiversity gradient in the New World snake tribe Lampropeltini. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 18, 406–415.
- RAO, C. R. (1986). Rao's axiomatization of diversity measures. In *Encyclopedia of Statistical Sciences*, vol. 7 (ed. S. KOTZ and N. L. JOHNSON), pp. 614–617. Wiley and Sons, New York.
- RICKLEFS, R. (2006). Global variation in the diversification rate of passerine birds. *Ecology* 87, 2468–2478.
- RICKLEFS, R. E. (1987). Community diversity: relative roles of local and regional processes. *Science* 235, 167–171.
- RICKLEFS, R. E. (2004). A comprehensive framework for global patterns in biodiversity. *Ecology Letters* 7, 1–15.
- RICKLEFS, R. E. (2007). Estimating diversification rates from phylogenetic information. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 22, 601–610.
- RICOTTA, C. (2005). Through the jungle of biological diversity. Acta Biotheoretica 53, 29–38.
- RICOTTA, C. (2006). Strong requirements for weak diversities. Diversity and Distributions 12, 218–219.
- RICOTTA, C. (2007). A semantic taxonomy for diversity measures. Acta Biotheoretica 55, 23–33.
- RICOTTA, C. & BURRASCANO, S. (2008). Beta diversity for functional ecology. *Preslia* 80, 61–71.
- RICOTTA, C. & MORETTI, M. (2008). Quantifying functional diversity with graphtheoretical measures: advantages and pitfalls. *Community Ecology* 9, 11–16.
- RICOTTA, C. & SZEIDL, L. (2006). Towards a unifying approach to diversity measures: Bridging the gap between the Shannon entropy and Rao's quadratic index. *Theoretical Population Biology* **70**, 237–243.
- ROUTLEDGE, R. D. (1979). Diversity indices: Which ones are admissible? *Journal of Theoretical Biology* 76, 503–515.
- SCHMERA, D., EROS, T. & PODANI, J. (2009). A measure for assessing functional diversity in ecological communities. *Aquatic Ecology* 43, 157–167.
- SHANNON, C. E. (1948). A mathematical theory of communication. Bell System technical journal 27, 379–423, 623–656.
- SHIMATANI, K. (2001). On the measurement of species diversity incorporating species differences. Oikos 93, 135–147.
- SILVERTOWN, J., DODD, M., GOWING, D., LAWSON, C. & MCCONWAY, K. (2006). Phylogeny and the hierarchical organization of plant diversity. *Ecology* 87, S39–S49.
- SLINGSBY, J. A. & VERBOOM, G. A. (2006). Phylogenetic relatedness limits cooccurrence at fine spatial scales: evidence from the schoenoid sedges (Cyperaceae: Schoeneae) of the Cape Floristic Region, South Africa. *American Naturalist* 168, 14–27.

- SMITH, T. B. & GRETHER, G. F. (2008). The importance of conserving evolutionary processes. In *Conservation biology: Evolution in action* (ed. S. P. CARROLL and C. W. FOX), pp. 85–98. Oxford University Press, New York.
- SOLOW, A. R. & POLASKY, S. (1994). Measuring biological diversity. *Environmental and Ecological Statistics* 1, 95–107.
- STEVENS, R. D. (2006). Historical processes enhance patterns of diversity along latitudinal gradients. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B - Biological Sciences 273, 2283–2289.
- STEVENS, R. D., COX, S. B., STRAUSS, R. E. & WILLIG, M. R. (2003). Patterns of functional diversity across an extensive environmental gradient: vertebrate consumers, hidden treatments and latitudinal trends. *Ecology Letters* 6, 1099–1108.
- STIRLING, A. (2007). A general framework for analysing diversity in science, technology and society. *Journal of royal society interface* 4, 707–719.
- STRAUSS, S., WEBB, C. & SALAMIN, N. (2006). Exotic taxa less related to native species are more invasive. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 103, 5841–5845.
- SVENNING, J. C., BORCHSENIUS, F., BJORHOLM, S. & BALSLEV, H. (2008). High tropical net diversification drives the New World latitudinal gradient in palm (Arecaccae) species richness. *Journal of Biogeography* 35, 394–406.
- SWENSON, N. G. & ENQUIST, B. J. (2009). Opposing assembly mechanisms in a Neotropical dry forest: implications for phylogenetic and functional community ecology. *Ecology* **90**, 2161–2170.
- TALLENTS, L. A., LOVETT, J. C., HALL, J. B. & HAMILTON, A. C. (2005). Phylogenetic diversity of forest trees in the Usambara mountains of Tanzania: correlations with altitude. *Botanical Journal of the Linnean Society* 149, 217–228.
- TOFTS, R. & SILVERTOWN, J. (2000). A phylogenetic approach to community assembly from a local species pool. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B - Biological Sciences 267, 363–369.
- VAMOSI, S. M., HEARD, S. B., VAMOSI, J. C. & WEBB, C. O. (2009). Emerging patterns in the comparative analysis of phylogenetic community structure. *Molecular Ecology* 18, 572–592.
- VEECH, J. A., SUMMERVILLE, K. S., CRIST, T. O. & GERING, J. C. (2002). The additive partitioning of species diversity: recent revival of an old idea. *Oikos* 99, 3–9.
- VILLÉGER, S., MASON, N. W. H. & MOUILLOT, D. (2008). New multidimensional functional diversity indices for a multifaceted framework in functional ecology. *Ecology* 89, 2290–2301.
- WALKER, B., KINZIG, A. & LANGRIDGE, J. (1999). Plant attribute diversity, resilience, and ecosystem function: The nature and significance of dominant and minor Species. *Ecosystems* 2, 95–113.
- WARWICK, R. M. & CLARKE, K. R. (1995). New 'biodiversity' measures reveal a decrease in taxonomic distinctness with increasing stress. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 129, 301–305.
- WEBB, C. & PITMAN, N. (2002). Phylogenetic balance and ecological evenness. Systematic Biology 51, 898–907.
- WEBB, C. O. (2000). Exploring the phylogenetic structure of ecological communities: an example for rain forest trees. *The American Naturalist* **156**, 145–155.
- WEBB, C. O., ACKERLY, D. D., MCPEEK, M. A. & DONOGHUE, M. J. (2002). Phylogenies and community ecology. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 33, 475–505.
- WEIHER, E., CLARKE, G. D. P. & KEDDY, P. A. (1998). Community assembly rules, morphological dispersion, and the coexistence of plant species. *Oikas* 81, 309–322.
- WHITTAKER, R. H. (1960). Vegetation of the Siskiyou Mountains, Oregon and California. *Ecological Monographs* 30, 279–338.
- WIENS, J. & DONOGHUE, M. (2004). Historical biogeography, ecology and species richness. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 19, 639–644.
- WILLIAMS, P. H. & GASTON, K. J. (1994). Measuring more of biodiversity: can highertaxon richness predict wholesale species richness? *Biological Conservation* 67, 211–217.
- WILLIG, M. R. (2001). Latitude, common trends within. In *Encyclopedia of Biodiversity*, vol. 3.

### XI. SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information may be found in the online version of this article.

**Appendix S1.** Bestiary of diversity measures: differences among the multivariate indices of biodiversity.

Please note: Wiley-Blackwell are not responsible for the content or functionality of any supporting materials supplied by the authors. Any queries (other than missing material) should be directed to the corresponding author for the article.